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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATESOF AMERICA,
Plaintiff, Case No. 2:10-cv-336
V. Judge Peter C. Economus
M agistrate Judge Norah McCann King
TOBIASH.ELSASS, et al., MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Defendants.

Presently pending before the Court are the Patressmotions for summary judgment
(Docs. 212 & 230) and the Defendants’ Motion to Strike Certain Government Summary
Judgment Exhibits (Doc. 236). For the reasons that foltbevCourt will DISMISS without
deciding the motion to strike, a®RANT in PART andDENY in PART the cross motions for
summary judgment. Further, the CourGRANTS injunctive relief to the Government as
specified in the Judgment and Permanent Injunction filed concurrently with tmsm@nd
order.

l.

Plaintiff, the United States of America, brings the instant civil actiomag&iefendants
Tobias H. Elsass (“Elsass”), Fraud Recovery Group, Inc. (“FRG”), andbBefsx Services,

Inc. (“"STS”) seeking to enjoin the Defendants from providing certain serviceggay&rs on
the grounds that the Defendants have frequently engagpedctices that violate the tax laws.

FRG and STS are entities fuded and controlled by ElsasSollectively, the Defendants
are in the business of helping taxpayers claim tax refunds through tax dedumtithestflosses
made allowable by § 165 of the Internal Revenue Code (“I.R.C.”"), 26 U.S.C. § 165. The

Defendants’ business focuses on purpottedt losses arising from investment scams such as
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the one famously orchestrated by Bernie Madoff. iiThesiness model consists of researching
and identifying investment scams that might give rise to 8 165Itsftdeductions, marketing
their servicego the victims of such scams, and assisting the victims in filing amended tasretur
to obtain a tax refund based on the loss sustained through the $caexchange for these
services, the Defendants are compensated by a percentage of the refund obtained.

In bringing this action, the Government contends that the Defentawés frequently
engaged in practices that run afoul of the I.LR.C. and the rules and regulati@nsirggp\vhe
United States’ income tax scheme promulgated by the Treasury Deparimdetitealnternal
Revenue Service (YIRS Among other allegations, the Government contends that the
Defendantsfrequently and willfully have attempted to obtain thédiss deductions for their
customers in instances whedeing sois improper or altogethegroundless. To prevent the
Defendants from continuing to operate in ways that it contends blatantly run afthd tdx
laws, the Government seeks to permanently enjoin the Defendants pursuant to 88 7402, 7407,
and 7408 of the I.R.C. from engaging in the business of assisting taxpayers with § tkSsheft
deductions.

After conferring with the Parties as the case approached trial, the d&denmined that
the action could likely be resolved through crosstions for summary judgment.SéeDoc.
208.) The Parties have accordingly moved for summary judgment and briefing orudseisss
now complete.

.

Before discussinghe Parties’ motions for summary judgment, the Court dostsiders

the Defendants’ pending motion to stri&vernmenExhibits 77, 156,157,191, 286, 340, 341,

342,353, 456, 458, 459179, 482, 83, 498, 501, 502, 50&nd 504. (Doc. 236.) Defendants




argue that the Court should not consider these documents on various grounds. However, as th
Court has not relied upon any of the identified exhibits in deciding the pending summary
judgment motionsorin determining the appropriate relief to the Governmiéngé unnecessary
for the Court to decide the legal merits of the Defendants’ motion to strike. Adglgrdime
Defendand’ Motion to Strike Certain Government Summary Judgment Exhibits (Doc.i236)
dismissed.

1.

A.

The Court now turns to the cresmtions for summary judgmenSummary judgment is
properwhere”the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as tmateyial fact and the
movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of.Taweb. R. Civ. P. 56(3. The moving party
bears the initial burden of “informing the district court of the basis for itsomaand identifying
those portions of the ‘pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissiens on
together with the affidavits, if ariywhich it believes demonstrates the absence of a genuine
issue of material fact.’Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (198¢juoting prior version
of FED. R. Civ. P.56). The movant may meet this burden by demonstrating the absence of
evidencesupporting one or more essential elements of thenmovant’s claim. Id. at 323-25.

Once the movant meets this burden, the opposing party “must set forth spetgistiowing
that there is a genuine issue for trigdriderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 250 (1986)
(quotation and citation omitted).

“In considering a motion for summary judgment, the Court must view the facts amd dra

all reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the nonmoving paitliams

v. Belknap 154 F. Supp.2d 1069, 1071 (E.D. Mich. 2001) (citing0 Ivy Street Corp. v.




Alexandey 822 F.2d 1432, 1435 (6th Cir. 1987))he purpose of summary judgment “is not to
resolve factual issues, but to determine if there are genuine issues db faet tried.”
Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc. v. Am. Eagle Outfitters,, 1880 F.Supp.2d 928, 930 (S.D.
Ohio 1999). Ultimately, this Court must determine “whether the evidence presents a sufficie
disagreement to require submission to a jury or whether it is seideg that one party must
prevail as a matter of lawAnderson477 U.S. at 251-52.

B.

Prior to discussing the injunctive relief sought by the Government, the Court will first
give avery brief overview of the Defendants and their business model. As explained below, the
Court will also briefly dispose of the majority of the Government’s claimsesghrtain tahe
conduct ofSTS.

Elsass was an attorney admitted to practice la®@hio in 1980. (Elsass Dep. 14, Gov.
Ex. 486,Doc. 226, PAGEID # 786.)' He ceased practicing law after his law license was
suspended in 1998Id( at 16,Doc. 226, PAGEID # 7488.Prior to forming FRG, he worked as
a salesman for a business known as JK Harris, “selling” § 165 theft loss dedtactimtisns of
finandal scams (See d. at 39,Doc. 226, PAGEID # 7496.)After his employment with JK
Harris ended in December 2005, he founded FRG the following Janudryat {70,Doc. 226
2, PAGEID # 7555.)Elsass initially operated FRG out of his home, but toward the end of 2008,
he moved the business to its present location of 965 Sliglet in Worthington, Ohio. Ufited
States’ Statement of Contested and Uncontested Facts, 11, Doc. 229-1, PAGEID ## 8192-93.)

Elsass is the President and Chief Executive Officer of FRG. (Elsass Dep.alQEXG

486, Doc. 22e3, PAGEID # 7564.) He is the company’s only officer and only shareholder.

! For ease of reference, the Court will cite documents in the record usingtiiéigeltion numbers assigned by the
Court’s electronic docketing system in addition to the specific exhibitieuvs.
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(Id.) FRG charges contingeifees for its services. Under the company'siatifee structure,
customers had two optionsitleer they could makean advance cash payment, calculated as a
percentage of the estimated tax refund, or the fee dmeildeferredand taken by FRG as a
percentage of the actual refund receiveBee(d. at 254-55Doc. 2264, PAGEID ## 758485.)

The current fee structure is similar, wiphepaycustomers paying 15% of the expected return
and deferred customers paying what Elsass terms a blended.t& cash in advance and 20%
of the final refund (ld. at 637, Doc. 2277, PAGEID # 7827.) According to Elsass, a large
portion of FRG’s customers are elderlyd. @t 76, Doc. 226, PAGEID # 7507.)

STS is owned by FRG and was created in 2009 so that customer tax returns could be
prepared irhouse. Id. at 71, PAGEID # 7506.) The Defendants represent that STS is still an
active Ohio corporation, but that there is no present intention for it to again bectwvedyac
involved in the theftoss deduction business. (Defs.” Mem. Opp'n.1,Doc. 235, PAGEID #
8685.) Upon revewing the extensiveecord produced by the Government, the Court concludes
that the Government has failed to offer evidence linking STS directly to the dagoanduct
of the other Defendantsnalyzedherein, with theexception of aiding and abetting the
understatement of tax liability in violation of I.R.C. § 6701, as discussed in PBrR I, infra.
However, given that STS is owned solely by Elsass through his ownership of FRG, tHe Court
condusion in this regard has nionpact on the ultimate relief to the Government awarded
concurrently with this decision. Nonetheless, the Cguains the Defendants’ motion for
summary judgment as to the claims against STS with the exception of the veotd#t®6701.

1
Section 7407 of the |.R.@ests the Court with authority to enjoin “tax return preparers”

from engaging in certain conduct specified in seation. Further, if the Court determines that




person acting as t@&x return preparer hasdntinually or repeatedly engaged[the specified
prohibited conducthnd that an injunction prohibiting such conduct would not be sufficient to
prevent such person's interference with the proper administration of [the [.R.@&y enjoin

the persorirom acting as a tax returmgparer. 26 U.S.C. § 7407(b).

Here, the Government argues that the Defendants are tax return preparers as ibat ter
defined by statute and that they hagpeatedlyengaged in a myriad of conduntde enjoinable
pursuant to 8 7407Specifically, the Government contends tthet record establish€$) Elsass
and FRG have violated 26 U.S.C. § 6694 (made enjoinable by 8§ 7407(b)(1)(A})s#8% and
FRG have violated 26 U.S.C. 8§ 6695(f) (8 7407(b)(1)(AB) Elsass hasnisrepresentedis
eligibility to practice before the IRS (8§ 7407(b)(1)(Band(4) Elsass and FR®ave otherwise
engaged in “fraudulent or deceptive conduct which substantially interferes heitlproper
administration of the Internal Revenue laws” (8 74)a(lD)). Because it asserts that Elsass
and FRG have repeatedly engaged in the prohibited conduct and that an injunctionfiof spec
conduct would not suffice to prevent theiterference with the proper administration of the tax
laws, the Government seeks an injunction preventing the Defendants from servixngedsria
preparers.

a

As the Court’s authority under 8§ 7407 applies only to tax return preparers, the Court must
first determine whether there is no dispute of material fact as to whetH2efiredants medhe
definition of that term. “&x return preparer” is defindxy the I.R.Cto mean:

anyperson who prepares for compensation, or who employs one or more persons

to prepare for compensation, any return of tax imposed by this title or any claim

for refund of tax imposed by this title. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the

preparation of a substantial portion of a return or claim for refund shall bedrea
as if it were the preparation of such return or claim for refund.




26 U.S.C. § 7701(&6)6)(A). The term “person” is definedroadly by the I.R.C.to include
individuals, partnerships, companies, and corporati@ee id.8 7701(a)(1). According to the
Seventh Circuit, one purpose of the broad definition of tax return preparer

was to ensure that the person whakes the decisions and calculations involved

in preparing a particular retuwill be considered the preparer of that return, even

if that person "does not actually place the figures on the lines of the taxpayer's

final tax return.”" H.R. Rep. No. 658, 94th Cong., 2d Sess. 275, reprinted in 1976

U.S.C.C.A.N. 3171.Thus, furnishmg of advice ca make one a preparevhile

mechanical assistance in preparing the return does not
Goulding v. United State957 F.2d 1420, 1424-25 (7th Cir. 1992

Here the Government has demonstrated that thez@o genuine factual disputes as to
whether the Defendants are tax return prepar@ss.an initial matterjt is undisputed that the
Defendants receive compensation for their services in the form of a percentageaot @iund
received by their customers. Furth8f Swasundoubtedly a tax return preparer as the record
reflects that it exists primarily for the purpose of completing amended ttaxsdor customers
of FRG claiming § 165 theft loss deductions. (Elsass Dep. 71; Doc. 226, PAGEID # 33.)
also provided geeral preparation services to taxpayers outside the 8§ 165dbgftleduction
context. SeeGov. Ex. 293at 1, Doc. 21931, PAGEID # 6267; Gov. Ex. 3G8 1, Doc. 2204,
PAGEID # 6328 (“[STS] is in the business of preparing current year tax rejurns.”

Regarding Elsass and FR@e Government has directed the Court’s attention to some
twenty-eight tax returns either signed by Elsass himself (in some cases on beh®Gf &
listing FRG or STS as the firm employing the signeésegGov. Ex. 12, Do. 212-13 Gov. EXx.
17, Doc.212-18 Gov. Ex. 18, Doc212-19 Gov. Ex. 20Doc. 21221; Gov. Ex. 23, Doc. 212
24; Gov. Ex. 27, Do2131; Gov. Ex. 34Doc. 213-§ Gov. Ex. 36 Doc. 213-10Gov. EXx. 46
Doc. 213-2Q Gov. Ex. 48 Doc. 213-22 Gov. Ex. 49 Doc. 213-23 Gov. Ex. 50 Doc. 213-24

Gov. Ex. 75 Doc. 214-6 Gov. Ex. 121Doc. 215-10 Gov. Ex. 124Doc. 215-13Gov. Ex. 126




Doc. 215-15 Gov. Ex. 148 Doc. 215-37 Gov. Ex. 151 Doc. 216 Gov. Ex. 153 Doc. 216-2

Gov. Ex. 175 Doc. 216-27 Gov. Ex. 183Doc. 21635; Gov. Ex. 303, Do219-4Q Gov. Ex.

316, Doc. 220-12Gov. Ex.430,Doc. 224-21 Gov. Ex. 432Doc. 22423; Gov. Ex. 448Doc.
224-36 Gov. Ex. 469Doc. 225-21 Gov. Ex. 499Doc. 228-12.) In addition to the individual
returns included in the record, the Government has also submitted a chart indicatinpdbat i
identified 91 total returns listing either FRG or STS as the firm of the paid prepat 112 total
customers of Defendants whose returns were signed by Elsass persddadi§go\. Ex. 457A,

Doc. 2251.) The Defendants have not attempted to dispute the Government's contentions
regarding these returns.

While the signed tax returns may not be entirely dispositive of the issuecthrel mlso
establishes thdElsass and FR®vere the moving force behind the decisions and calculations
regarding the returnsFor instance, the record contains various memoranda from Elsass/FRG
that provide instructions for how amended returns shibeldompleted. SeeGov. Ex.13, Doc.
212-14,; Gov. Ex. 26, Doc. 213; Gov. Ex. 31, Doc. 213-5; Gov. Ex. 33, Doc. 213-7; Gov. Ex. 35,
Doc. 213-9 Gov. Ex.39, Doc. 213-13Gov. Ex.41, Doc. 21315; Gov. Ex.45, Doc. 21319;

Gov. Ex.47,Doc. 21321; Gov.Ex. 53, Doc.21327, Gov. Ex.58, Doc. 213-32Gov. Ex.119,

Doc. 215-8 Gov. Ex.123, Doc. 215-12Gov. Ex.185, Doc. 216-37Gov. Ex.187, Doc. 216-39

Gov. Ex190, Doc. 217-1Gov. Ex.195, Doc. 217-6Gov. Ex. 304 Doc. 220 Gov. Ex. 3@,

Doc. 223 Gov. Ex.417 Doc. 224-9 Gov. Ex.422 Doc. 224-14;Gov. Ex 445, Doc. 224-34

Gov. Ex. 457B, Doc. 225-2;Gov. Ex. 476 Doc. 225-28.) These forms are labeled
“INSTRUCTIONS FOR PREPARATION OF AMENDED RETURNS” and typically provide

the name of the scam involved, the amount lost by the taxpayer, and the year of discovery,

which, as explainednfra, is important for the proper analysis of a § 165 tlefts claim.




Further,FRG’s website stated that one of the services provided to customers waistdafe in
preparation and submission of all necessary forms and supporting documentéBon.” Ex.
307at 3 Doc. 220-3, PAGID # 6318.)

According to Gwynn Kinselan attorney employed by FRG between November 2008 and
December 2009,

[Elsass]... directed how theft loss claims should be reported on the amended

returns prepared for [FRG] customers.... [AJthough [FRG] itself did not

physically fill out the amended tax veh forms for its customers, Mr. Elsass
oversaw the actions of both the individuals employed by [STS] as well as outside

tax preparers, issuing instructions for the tax preparers telling tharpregxactly

how to prepare the return and asking for corrections if a return wasepzred

to his satisfaction.

(Kinsel Decl. 19, Gov. Ex. 492, Doc. 228-5, PAGEID # 8099.)

While the Defendast assert that the dmouse preparation of the actual amended tax
returnsby STShas now stopped and is outsourcedatteer entities, the record also reflects that
Elsass himself is still involved in reviewing completed formSeeflsass Dep. 583, Gov. Ex.
486, Doc. 2275, PAGEID # 7783 (Elsass describing request from employee on the day of his
deposition that he review return).) Further, the Court notes that the statutory definition of tax
return preparer is broadly written to include those who “employ” others t@nerégx returns.
Elsass and FRG accordingly can be considered tax return preparers by vinemacif that they
currently hire entities to complete amended tax returns for FRG’s custfonex fee Aside
from the actual direction as to how tax forms should be compdeteédhe retention of others to
process formsthe Court also looks to the “irpnt” research work done by FRG and Elsass
identifying scams that may qualify for théftss treatment(SeeDefs.” Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ.

J. 6-7 Doc. 230, PAGEID ## 82434) As the information gathered through that research is

ultimately used in supporting the customers’ individual thefs deductions, the Court considers




this a significant factor in concluding that FRG and Elsass are tax retuargnep

Finally, thegeneration of revenue through tax refunds obtaineéwianded tax returns
is the sine qua noof FRG’s business. While the Defendants claim that all of the actual tax
preparation is now performed by independent tax professionals, and thaadeRf@inglyis
only a firm that markets the services of these professi@salspposd to being a tax return
preparer the fee structure belies this contentioks noted by the Seventh Circuit @oulding
Congress intended the definition of tax return prapreencompass those contributing to the
material decisions regarding tax returnss suchto consider FRG and Elsass to be outside that
definition based on structural technicalities would be contrary to the will of Caengres

The Defendants do little to contest the factual record cited by the Govertandimy to
establish thathey are tax return preparers within the meaning of § 7d07jnstead rely on
Judge Boasberg’s recent decisioaving v. .R.§.917 F. Supp. 2d 67 (D. D.C. 2018)argue
thatthey are not tax return prepaetovingdealt with theSecretary of the Treasuryasthority
to regulateax return preparers involved only in preparing, signing, and submittingtizxs to
the IRS under the authority granted by 31 U.S.C. § 330, which authorizes the Secretary to
regulate “the practice of representatives of persons before the Department aberyr 31
U.S.C. § 330(a).

Judge Boasberg ultimately concluded that 8§ 330 could not be interpreted to include those
who merely pregre and file tax returns. In doing so, he noted that whileltresp “practice of
representatives” is not defined, the phrase “advise and assist persons in presemticases”
found in subsection 330(a)(2)(D) strongly suggested that Congress intended the term
“representatives” to be limited only to those who assist taxpayers durirtg andiappealsSee

Loving 917 F. Supp. 2d at 74. According to Judge Boasberg, “[f]iing a tax return would never,
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in normal usage, be described as ‘presenting a calse.”

Contrary to the Defendasitargument that.oving somelow stands for the proposition
that they are not subject to injunctigpursuant to § 74074 careful reading of Judge Boasberg’s
decision actuallysupports the Court’s conclusion that they are tax return prepaterthis
regard,Judge Boasberg also looked to the broader statutory scheme when he determined that a
expansive interpretation of 31 U.S.C. § 330 would contravene the will of Conguesmarizing
his analysis as follows:

Two aspects of § 330's statutory context provee@sfly important here. Both

relate to§ 330(b), which allows the IRS to penalize and disbar pragtic

representatives. First, statutes scattered across Title 26 of the UeSci€atk a

careful, regimented schedule of penalties for misdeeds ketax preparers. If

the IRS had opernded discretion under 8 330(b) to impose a range of monetary

penalties on taxeturn preparers for almost any conduct the IRS chooses to

regulate, those Title 26 statutes would be eclipsed. Second, if the IRS could

"disbal’ misbehaving taxeturn preparers under 8 330(b), a federal statute meant

to address precisely those malefacte®6 U.S.C. § 740+would lose all

relevance.

Id. at 75-76. In other words,the category of tax professionals who challenged thé IRS
regulatimsof their activityissued pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 33Q.aving are covered by § 7407.

In sum,FRG and Elsasare compensated for guiding taxpayers through the process of
amending previous years’ tax returns in order to obtain a tax refund arising fgdk5 theft
loss. The generation of revenue through the filing of the amended returns is the very essence of
FRG’s business, ands accomplished in part using information about the various scams
researchedby Elsass and FRG At various times, Elsasand FRG’s employees actually
completed and signed tax return forms. At other times, the forms were completkuidby
partiesper Elsass/FRG’s instructions. At still others, third parties were employdeRG to

complete the forms. For these reasdhg,Defendants are tax return preparers as that term is

defined by § 7701 of the I.R.@nd arethussubject to the Court’s injunctive authority under §
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7407.
b.

The Government requests the Court to permanently enjoin the Defendants fronascting
tax returnpreparers pursuant to 8 7407 on the grounds that the Defendants have continually or
repeatedly engaged in several forms of conduct specified in that section. The Tauwtvw
consider the alleged conduct.

i

Section 7407 makes enjoinable “any condswibject to penalty under [I.R.C.] section
6694.” 26 U.S.C. § 7407(b)(1)(A). Section 66®stablishes two penalties for the
understatement of tax liability by tax return preparers. First, a taxhret@parer may be
penalized for an understatement of liability due to an “unreasonable position” wherepheer
“knew (or reasonably should have known) of the positiohd’ § 6694(a)(1). A tax return
preparer cannot be penalized for an unreasonable position if the preparer can shdwerdha “t
reasonable cause for the understatement and the tax return preparer acted aittgdoldl.f§
6694(a)B). Secondatax return preparanayalsobe penalizeghursuant to 8 669 instances
wherean understatement of tax liability is the result of either a) “a willful attempt in angenan
to understate the liability for tax on the return or claim” or b) “a reckless orionahtlisregard
of rules or regulations.’Id. 8 U.S.C.8 6694(b). There is no reasonable cause/good faith defense
to a 8§6694(b) violation.

Here, he Government contends that Elsass and RR@ repeatedly understated the tax
liability of their customers through the use 8 165 thess deductions based on willful or
reckless conduct. Accordingly, before evaluating the conidugtiestion, a brief overview of

the lawgoverning 8 165 thetssdeductions is in orderSectionl65allowstaxpayerso deduct
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losses not “compensated for by insurance or otherwise.” 26 U.S.C. 8§.1é8¢h)ded within
the permissible 8§ 165 loss deductions for individuals are losses arising fefim $ee id.§
165c), (e) A theft loss might give rise to a net operating loss, which may be carried/drack
for up to three years and forward for twenty yeaiSee id.§ 172(a), (b)(1)(F). Further,
characterizing a loss as resulting from theft eatihan an ordinary capital loss is advantageous
to a taxpayer because theft losses are not subject to the $3,000 cap applicablal tiossgmt
See26 U.S.C. 8 1211(b).

The term “theft” includes, but is not limited to, larceny, embezzlement, andryobbee
26 C.F.R.8 1.1658(d). According to the Fifth Circuitheft is“a word of general and broad
connotation, intended to cover and covering any criminal appropriation of another'syptopert
the use of the taker, particularly including theft by swindling, false pretessésany other form
of guile.” Edwards v. Brombey 232 F.2d 107, 11(bth Cir. 1956). To establish a theft loss,
the taxpayer “must prove that the loss resulted from a taking of property thaltegal under
the law of the jurisdiction in which it occurred and was done with criminal intent.” Rav.
2009-9, 2009-14 I.R.B. 735 (citing Rev. Rul. 72-112, 1972-1 C.B. 60.). While an actual criminal
conviction for theft is not required, it may establish conclusively that thefin@zt See Vietzke
v. Comm’y 37 T.C. 504, 510 (1961).

Losses for theftra “treated as sustained during the taxable year in which the taxpayer
discovers such loss.26 U.S.C8 165(e). However,

if in the year of discovery there exists a claim for reimbursement with tespec

which there is a reasonable prospect of recoveoyportion of the loss with

respect to which reimbursement may be received is sustained, for purposes of

section 165, until the taxable year in which it can be ascertained with reasonable

certainty whether or not such reimbursement will be received.

26 C.F.R. § 1.168(d)(3). See also Jeppsen v. ComntP8 F.3d 1410, 1414 (10th Cir. 1997)
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(“the existence of a claim of reimbursement with a reasonable prospect of recdvprgugnt

a loss from being considered as ‘sustainadless and until it is determined with reasonable
certainty that such reimbursement will not be obtdined\ll facts and circumstances must be
considered to determine iftaxpayer has &easonake prospect for recovery See26 C.F.R.8
1.1654(d)(2)(i).

“A reasonable prospect of recovery exists when the taxpayer has bona fide folaim
recoupment from third parties or otherwise, and when there is a substantial ipp$iséiilsuch
claims will be decided in his favérRamsay Scarlett and Co., Inc., v. Comrl T.C. 795, 811
(1974). Conversely, a taxpayer will not be prevented from clainartheft loss where the
possibility of recovery is “remote or nebulousVYincentini v. Comm’r429 F. App’x 560, 564
(6th Cir. 2011)citing United States v. S.S. White Dental Mfg. Co. of P&4 U.S. 398, 46D3
(1927)). “The ‘reasonableness’ of a taxpayer's prospect of recovery is pgntasted
objectively, although a court may consider to a limited extent evidencéeotaikpayer's
subjective contemporaneous assessmehisobwn prospect of recovery.Jeppsenl28 F.3d at
1418.

Whether a reasonable prospect for recovery exists must be consideredimethieet
taxpayer elects to claim the thédss deduction.See Scofield’s Estate v. Comn266 F.2d 154,
163 (6th Cir. 1959) (“The only fair test is foresight, not hindsiyhtSee alsd/incentinj 429 F.
App’x at 564(“the Court must examine a taxpayer's reasonable expectations at the close of the
taxable year in which the deduction was claifhedrinally, the taxpayer bears the burdeh
establishing entitlement to tax deduction See Intersite Transit Lines v. Comm’'B819 U.S.
590, 593 (1943). As such a taxpayer is not entitled to a § 165 tHefis deduction if the

likelihood of recovery as of the end of the tax year in question is unknowabieJeppseri28
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F.3d at 1418. “Speculation and conjecture will not support a taxpayer deduction uh@8s}.[8
Vincentinj 429 F. App’x at 564.

The Government alleges tHalsass and FRGave repeatedly understated the tax liability
of their clients by claiming improper thdfiss deductions in a manner penalizable under § 6694.
The Governmenpoints the Court’'s attention to sevepalrportedfinancial “scam$ involving
the Defendarst customersand other of the Defendants’ conduct, and has submitted evidence
that in claiming theft losses arising from their cust@htsses,Elsass and FRGL) claimed
theft losses in cases where the losses were not criminal in nature under tet tkee law; 2)
prematurely claimed theft losses before it could be ascertained with reasontzieycirat the
customer had no reasonable likelihood of recovery; 3) claimed theft losses fonsperst
entitled to claim the loss; and 4) used incorrect tax forms to improperly inflatenwrs’
refunds. The Court will thusnext considerwhether the theft loss deductions identified by the
Government weremproper, and, ifo, whether Elsass and FR@tions in serving as the tax
return preparers for these deductions are subject to penalty under 8§ 6694.

I

The first financial “scam”involved an entity named American Business Financial
Services (“ABFS”), whichsold high interest rate notes to investors backed by subprime
mortgages.Seeln re Am.Bus. Fin. Sers,, Inc, 360 B.R. 74, 77 (Bankr. D. Del. 2007). ABFS
ultimately became insolvent arffided for bankruptcy inJanuary2005. 1d. As of 2010, Elsass
and his companies prepared amended tax returns claiming theft losses for 372rsustbm
had lost their investments in ABFS. (United States’ Statement of Contested amntddted
Facts, 57, Doc. 229, PAGEID # 8207.) The Defendah ABFS customers received

collectively approximately $3.@nillion in tax refunds as a result of these amended retutdg. (
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The Government, however, contends that the theft losses claimed by the Defendants aof behalf
their ABFS customers were improper and ignored the legal requirements for § 16bshkeft
deductions that the loss invoha@iminal intentand that the loss be claimed only after the
taxpayer can establish with reasonable certainty that no recovery will be ndde Court
agrees.

No criminal charges were ever filed against ABFS or its principals. The rexbudes
an internal FRG document indicating awareness of this f&#eQov. Ex. 3 at 2, Doc. 212,
PAGEID # 4327.) The record also includes a documeéiied “AMERICAN BUSINESS
FINANCIAL SERVICES (ABFS) 165 (C)(2) SUMMARYprepared by FR@orporate counsel
Gwynn Kinsel,and used by FRGn attempting to justify ABFS thefbss claims to the IRS
(SeeGov. Ex. 24, Doc. 2125.) With regard to the issue of criminality, this document states
part

Here, ABFS induced investors to invest with their company based on false and
misleading prospectuses and registration statemertlshnson v. American
Business Financial ServiceBlo. 05¢cv-00232 (E.D. Pa. 2005Complaint at 7.
These actions by ABFS constitute theft by swindling or false pretenses....

In addition, the principals of ABFS were using the investors’ money for purposes
not agreed to by the investors. The principals of ABFS were paying themselves
ard family members exorbitant salaries and bonuses while the company was
insolvent. Also, the principals “essentially used ABFS as the Santilli family
bank” and made excessive purchases that were not business reNétied.v.
Santilli, No. 1225, Commerc@rogram, Control Ns. 041182, 061519, 061580
(Philadelphia CountyCt. C.P., July 2006) Op. at 3. These actions amount to
conversion, the taking of property of another without his or her permission or
beyond the scope of the permission. Gilbert Law Dictionary. Again, this is a
theft for 8 165(c)(2) purposes.

The Secretary of State lllinois found the actions of ABFS to be fraud and
conversion. In the matter of: Jerry Rapport and Anthony Santifile No.
0500015, Temporary Order of Prohibition (S&ary of State, Ill.). This finding

is sufficient to prove that the actions of ABFS amounted to theft for 165(c)(2)
purposes.
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(Id. at 1, PAGEID # 4489.)

The information quoted above, may, at first blush, appear somewhat convincing.
However, careful consideration reveals that the information borders on msjeadifails to
establish the criminal intent requirement o§ 465 theftloss deduction. Firsas noted by the
Government, FRG’$proof” regarding the false prospectuses and registration statemems co
from a complaint filed in a civil class action in the Eastern District of Pennsylvarsdraitved
attorneys,Elsass and Kisel were undoubtedhaware thatallegations contained in a civil
complaint are just thaallegations, which require actual evidence to establish. Further, in the
second paragraph quoted abd¥msel cites a decision in a Pennsylvania state court in an action
brought by George Miller, the trustee of ABFS’ bankruptcy estate. Perhaps imgcprotctual
legal decisionKinselwas hoping to add a sort of judicialprimatur to FRG’s positionTo the
contrary, areview ofthe opinion reveals that in the cited portion, the @avas merely quoting
directly from Miller's complainin decidinga motion for judgment on the pleadirfgsd by the
case’s defendantqSee idat 23, PAGEID # 4511.)

The action taken by the lllinois Secretary of State and cited by FRG in the ABFS
Sunmmaryis also of questionable relevance to the issue of criminal intent. On April 8, 2005, the
Secretary issued a document known as a temporary order of prohibition against #dFsd
ABFS principals Anthony Santilli and Jerry RappaporBedGov. Ex. 7, Doc. 21-8.) The
Secretary’s authority for issuing the temporary order of prohibition agaiBESAarises under
Sedion 11 of the lllinois Securitiekaw of 1953, 815LL. CompP. STAT. 5/11, which provides
that:

Anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, the Secretarytef Sta

may temporarily prohibit or suspend, for a maximum period of 90 days, by an

order effective immediately, the offer or sale or registration of seauritie
without the notice and prior hearing in this sudtga prescribed, if the Secretary
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of State shall in his or her opinion, based on credible evidence, deem it necessary

to prevent an imminent violation of this Act or to prevent losses to investors

which the Secretary of State reasonably believes will occur as a result of a prior
violation of this Act.... The temporary order shall set forth the grounds for the
action and shall advise that the respondent may request a hearing, that the request
for a hearing will not stop the effectiveness of the temporary order and that
respondent’s failure to request a hearing within 30 days after the date ofryhe ent

of the temporary order shall constitute an admission of any facts ategesin

and shall constitute sufficient basis to make the temporary order final.

Id. 5/11(F)(2). While the linois Securities Lawdoes establiskriminal penaltiessee id. 5/14,
the Court notes that the action taken by the Secretary regarding ABFS citexlbgfendants is
administrativein nature. Furthermore, the temporary order mfohibition, while immediately
effective, is akinto a complaint in a civil case that the subjects of the order are provided an
opportunity to contest thalegations within the ordext an administrative hearirfg.

Accordingly, in justifying theABFS teftloss deductions, FRG and Elsdaded to
establish the requisite criminal intent. Several recent Court decislestrthe absence of
evidence of this elementSee, e.g., Labus v. United Staték. 5:11-cv-01856, 2012WL
4483809 *4, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 139226, *3811 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 27, 2012) (“the record
is devoid of any evidence that would suggest that ABFS posséissedriminal intent to
‘deprive’ Plaintiff of his investment money without any plan of paying back the principal
investmens. Instead, the record reflects that ABFS sent Plaintiff monthly intelnesks from
his four investments for some time prior to filing for Chapter 7 bankrupidyis fact alone

contradicts Plaintiff's contention in his complaint that ABFS acted with the crimiteadtito

deprive him of his investment money.WWazgar v. United StateBlo. 3:1%cv-311, slip op. at 2

2 Some of the Defendants’ materials defending ABFS claims refekértzke v. Commr37 T.C. 504 (1961) and
claim that ABFS presentm analogous situation because of the lllinois Secretary of State’'s agmst ABFS and
its principals. $ee, e.g.Gov. Ex. 59at 1, Doc. 21333, PAGEID # 4837.) Howeveietzkeis easily
distinguishable as that case involved actual criminal convictiorsefarrities law violationsSee Vietzke37 T.C. at
509. As noted, on the other hand, the action by the Illinois SecretargtefiSadministrative in nature.
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(S.D. Ohio Sept. 25, 2012) (“The \&gars were not the victim of a ‘thetty AFBS as defined
by applicable state law.”).

In the portion oftheir brief in response to the Government’s motion for summary
judgment, the Defendants spend much of their arguisitatking the deposition testimpiof
Catherine Johns and repeatitng conclusory assertion that the ABFS losses were criminal in
nature. However, this line of argumentation ignores the fact that the burden is on the tarpaye
establish the validity of a tax deduction. Just as with their interactions withR®ethe
Defendants have here failed to produce any evidence tending tasésthbl criminal nature of
the ABFS losses.

The lack of criminalityrenders any prospective thédss deduction based on ABFS
losses improper According to the Government, however, even if ABFS losses could be
considered criminal in natur&lsass ad FRG also improperly claimed 2005 as the year of
discovery for such losses on 261 of the 263 amended returns related to ABFS filed between
November 2007 and December 2009. (Pond Decl. $¥2®28Gov. Ex. 491, Doc. 228,
PAGEID # 8094.)

With regard to the year of discovery issue, the reosildcts that after 2005, bankruptcy
trustee George Miller was pursuing litigation to recod@mages in excess of $800,000,6®0
ABFS’ creditors. $ee, e.g.Gov. Ex. 8at 1, Doc. 2129, PAGEID # 4350; Gov. Ex. 10, Doc.
212-11.) Class action litigation was also maintained on behalf of those who purchased notes
from ABFS, and a settlement was achieved in 20@&eGov. Ex. 32, Doc. 21:8.) The record
alsoincludes an internal FRG document regarding ABFS stdltiagrear of discovery as 2005,
but also recognizing that the bankruptcy had only been initiated in January of that(yea

Gov. Ex. 1, Doc. 212.) This document also references the nearly $17 million class action
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settlement reached in November 20@8ee id).

FRG’s ABFS Summaryused in responding to IRS concerns otlexft-loss deductios
taken by FRG’s clients alsmitempts tqustify 2005as the correct year of discovesyatingthat:

Here, ABFS filed bankruptcy in January of 2005, and therefioeeloss was

discovered by investors in 2005. Once the company filed bankruptcy, a

reasonable person would believe that there was no prospect of recovery. Then, in

September of 2005 it became clear that there was not going to be any recovery

based on théankruptcy trustee’s Status Update #1. The update noted that

ABFS’s assets were estimated at $45,400,000 and the first secured lender has a

secured debt of $75,000,000. Therefore, once the secured debt is paid, there will

be no money left over for the unsecured investors and thus there was no

reasonable prospect of recover in 2005.

(Gov. Ex. 24 at 2-3, Doc. 212-25, PAGEID ## 4489-90.)

As with FRG’spositionregarding criminality, this informatioborders on misleading,
ignores pertinent facts and wasused repeatedly bilsass and FR@ attempting to justify
ABFS theftlossedo the IRS. For instance, Miller’s first status update, dated September 1, 2005,
does list available assets of $45,400,000 and secured debt belonging to GreenwichoCapital
$75000,000. $eeGov. Ex. 25 at 3, Doc. 2126, PAGEID # 4543.) The update alsentions,
however, that in addition to the $45 million in assets, thene19 mortgage residuals known as
“I/O Strips” pending valuation thatould have ben worth between $40 million and $180
million. (See id. Subsequent status updates from 2@@5e also ignored. Update 8lated
November 1, 2005, for exampleeferences partial payment made to Greenv@ealpital and
states thaliquidation of the 1/O strips plus other assets should be enough to cover the rgmainin
debt. GeeGov. Ex. 6 at 2, Doc. 212, PAGEID # 4334.) The update goes on to state that “I
cannot estimate, at this time, the amounts left for any other creditois) (pdate 3 also

mentons that Miller is exploring the possibility of litigation against various third Entieting

that recovery from litigation could take as long as three ye&ese if).
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From the record before it, the Couwtncludesthat, even if ABFS losses could be
corsidered criminal in nature, Elsass and FR&tempt to claim 2005 as the year of discovery
for many of their ABFS clients was not proper. As noted above, it is a taxpayer&nhtord
prove a deduction. Further, with regard to 8 165 #lesf deductions, if the likelihood of
recovery at the end of a given tax year is simply unknowable, that year cannot be tised a
year of discovery. Here, the status updates produced by Miller in 2005 demathstaée the
very least, the prospects of recoveeynained unknowablas of ttke end of that year because
recovery efforts were only just beginning. These reports show Miller's oggeiforts to
liquidate ABFS, toevaluate potential recoveries through litigation, and Miller’'s assertion that it
was imposdile to estimate possible returns for creditors other than GreeQajuital

Having determined that the théftss deductions related to ABFRBvestmentlosses
claimed by Elsass and FR&ere improper, the Court must namensider whether thegonduct
in claiming the deductions on behalf of their clientsubject to penalty under 8 6694As an
initial matter,the improper deductions resulted in an understatement of the tax liability for the
Defendants’ clients within the meaning of § 6694atlpwing the clients to claim inflated tax
refunds. See26 U.S.C. § 6694(e) (understatement includes “overstatement of the net amount
creditable or refundable”)

Further, the Court concludes that there is no material issue of fact as to W etz
and FRG’sconduct violated 6694(b)which subjects to penalty understatements resulting from
willful conductor a reckles®r intentional disregard for IRS rules and regulatiofise Treasury
Department’s regulations provide that “[a] preparer is camsitlto have willfully attempted to
understate liability if the preparer disregards, in an attempt wrongfutlgdiace the tax liability

of the taxpayer, information furnished by the taxpayer or other persons.” 26 C.F.R. § 1.6694
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3(b). “[W]illfulness does not require fraudulent intent or an evil motive; it meedyires a
conscious act or omission made in the knowledge that a duty is therefore not being met.”
Pickering v. United State$91 F.2d 853, 855 (8th Cir. 1982) (per curiam) (citatmmgted).
With respect to reckless or intentional disregard of rules or regulationsgghkations
provide that:
a preparer is considered to have recklessly or intentionally disregarded a rule or
regulation if the preparer takes a position on the resuiaim for refund that is
contrary to a rule or regulation ... and the preparer knows of, or is reckless in not
knowing of, the rule or regulation in question. A preparer is reckless in not
knowing of a rule or regulation if the preparer makes little oreffort to
determine whether a rule or regulation exists, under circumstances which
demonstrate a substantial deviation from the standard of conduct that a reasonable
preparer would observe in the situation.
26 C.F.R. § 1.6698(c)(1). The term “rule oregulation” is defined broadly to include the
I.R.C., regulations issued under the I.R.C., and revenue rulings or notices published in the
Internal Revenue Bulletin.See id.8 1.66943(e). Finally, the regulations provide that the
Government bears the burden of proving that a preparer willfully understateabibity Ibut that
the preparer bears the burden of proving that he or she did not recklessly or intgntionall
disregard a rule or regulatiomd. § 1.6694-3(h).See als®6 U.S.C. § 7427.
By continually insisting that 2005 was the proper yeadistoveryfor purported ABFS
theft lossesElsass and FR@hose to distort and ignore pertinent information supplied &y th
bankruptcy trustee, George Miller, that strongly suggested that as of thef &@D5, the
prospects for recovery were unknowablglsass personally instructed those completing ABFS
amended tax returns to use 2@@bthe year of discovery(SeeGov. Ex. 31, Doc. 213; Gov.

Ex. 33, Doc. 213; Gov. Ex. 35, Doc. 219: Gov. Ex. 39, Doc. 2133; Gov. Ex. 41, Doc. 213

15; Gov. Ex. 45, Doc. 213-19; Gov. Ex. 47, Doc. 213-21.)
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Further, Elsass and FR@nored the lack of criminal origin of the ABFS losses, which
also demonstrates a reckless disregard for the criminality prerequisipeopdr theftloss
deductionsas noted in revenue ruling§eeRev. Rul. 2009, 200914 I.R.B. 735 (citing Rev.

Rul. 72112, 19721 C.B. 60.). In this regardklsass is familiar with the legal precedent
governing Section 165 theftss deductions. (Elsass Dep. 458, Gov. Ex. 486, Doc. 225,
PAGEID ## 7550651.) He is aware that the burden is on the taxpayer to prove every elédment o
such a deduction:

Q. Do you understand that there’s a treasury regulation or a guidance saying y
have to file cemin things with the 165 claim to substantiate it?

A. You have to prove the elements, and the burden of proof is upon the taxpayer.
It says very clearly in the case law and the revenue rulings.

(Id. at 518, Doc. 2273, PAGEID # 7731) Elsass is also a#e that criminal intent is one of the
required elements.Sgeid. at 517418, PAGEID ## 773831; 55354, Doc. 2274, PAGEID ##
7456-57.) The record also reflects that FRG employees receive trafrong Elsassas to the
requirements of 8§ 165 thdfiss ceductions. (SeeUnited States’ Statement of Contested and
Uncontested Facts,ZL, Doc. 229-1, PAGEID # 8195.)

The egregiousness of FRG and Elsassiductregarding ABFSs amplified by the fact
that they continued to prepare hundreds of amendedreétxrns for their clienten the face of
mounting IRS concerns. Between November 2007 and December 2009, FRG made 263 theft
loss claims based on lost ABFS investments, the vast majority of which used 2865/aar of
discovery. (Pond Decl. 1 289, Gov. Ex. 491, Doc. 228, PAGEID # 8094.) However,
during that same time period, the IRS sent 137 notices of disallowancdimggABFS to the
individual taxpayers and/or FRG employeek]. { 30, PAGEID # 8095.See alsdsov. Ex.30

at 3, Doc. 2134, PAGEID # 45 (October 17, 2008 letter to taxpayers Doratdl Zoe Sloan
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explaining disallowance of claimed ABFS theft loss on ground thagr alia,they failed to
prove that theft hadccurred)) The first disallowance notice from the IRS is dated APQ)
2008. (Gov. Ex. 461, Doc. 22B1.) As of December 2009, FRt@d filed 168 ABFSheft-loss
claimsafterthe IRS issued thifirst notice of disallowance (Id.)

The record also shows that, in filing and defending ABFS clalbisass and FRG
continuously relied on the disingenuolegial and factual positions contained inith&BFS
Summary asheyresponded to the concerns raised by the IRS regarding the claimed ABFS theft
losses. %ee, e.g.Gov. Ex. 40 at 42, Doc. 21314, PAGEID ## 468485 (February 16, 2009
letter from Elsass and Kinsel to David Zito); Gov. Ex. 43 at 1, Doc:1Z713PAGEID # 4709
(February 25, 2009 letter from Kinsel to Kimberly Putnam); Gov. Ex. 51 at 1, Doe2%13
PAGEID # 4802 (July 27, 2009 letter from FRG Corpor@munsel Laurie Wirt to Stephen
Martin); Gov. Ex. 52 at 1, Doc. 2135, PAGEID # 4818 (August 18, 2009 letter from Kinsel to
Carmen Urquia); Gov. Ex. 56, Doc. 288 (October 29, 2009 letter from Kinsel to Shelly
Welker); Gov. Ex. 57, Doc. 2131 (Novembeb, 2009 letter from Wirt to D. Caiazza); Gov. Ex.
59, Doc. 213833 (November 23, 2009 letter from Kinsel to Greg Nygren); Gov. Ex. 62, Doc.
21336 (March 11, 2010 letter from Wirt to S. Pritchard); Gov. Ex. 65-&t Hoc. 21338,
PAGEID ## 490406 (April 6, 2010 letter from Wirt to Steven Rowe); Gov. Ex. 67-&, Doc.
21340, PAGEID ## 491516 (June 9, 2010 letter from Chad Dworkin of FRG to Thomas
Hynes); Gov. Ex. 68 at-2, Doc. 214, PAGEID ## 49218 (June 14, 2010 letter from Wirt to
David Evans); Gov. Ex. 70 at-20, Doc. 2142, PAGEID ## 493432 (July 20, 2010 letter from
Christopher Camboni of FRG to Anne Fleming); Gov. Ex. d73-2,Doc. 22525, PAGEID ##
7207-08 (March 27, 2009 letter from Kinsel to Luis Repollet).)

In concluding its discussion of ABFS, the Court draws attention to Government Exhibit
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309, which, in the Court’s view, serves to illustrate the callousness toward th&oskeftles
andregulations demonstrated by Elsass and FRG. That exhibitirgeanal FRG document
listing the years of discovery for various scamasearched by FRGABFS is listed in 2005, but
includes a notation that says, “Per Toby this can be put in '06 if it works.bef@ov. Ex. 309
at 1, Doc. 226, PAGEID # 6330.) For the abowstated reasts, theCourt concludes that
Elsass and FRGacting as tax return preparers, improperly claimed § 165ltdssiés on behalf
of clients who had suffered losses of ABFS investments, and that FRG and Elsass’ conduct
doing so is subject to penalty under 8§ 6694(b).

.

The second scam cited by the Governmamblved Joanne and Alan Schneider, who
orchestrated a massive Ponzi scheme by sellingreiginn promissory notes to investors and
then paying the interest owed to earlier investors with cash received fronmiagstors. See
Cramer v. United State885 F. Supp. 2d 859, 860 (N.D. Ohio 2012). Between April 2006 and
January 2010, FRG was involved in making 30 theft claims related to the Schneiders’
scheme, with the IRS sending a total of 29 notices of disallowance redatedse claims to
FRG clients and/or FRG employees. (Pond DEEIB2-33, Gov. Ex. 491, Doc. 228 PAGEID
# 8095.) Afterreceiving the firstnotice of disallowance in MarcR007, FRG served as tax
return preparer for 19 additional Schneider theds claims. If. 1 34.) The Government
concedes that the Schneid@onzi scheme was criminal in nature, but instead contends that
Elsass and FRG willfullyandbr recklesslyfiled theftloss claims using improper yeaof
discovery. The Court again agrees.

The chronology relevant to the Schneiders’ scheme was summayizZiedige Oliver as

follows:
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The Ohio Department of Commerce (“ODC”) fil&DC v. Schneideon Dec. 1,

2004 in the Cuyahoga County Court of Common Pleas in order to stop the
Schneiders from selling unsecured promissory notes. The ODC successfully
obtained a preliminary injunction against the Schneiders. The court also
appointed a special masteMatthew Fornshell, former director of enforcement
for the Ohio Division of Securitiesto supervise compliance with the
injunction.... By the time the suit was filed,ettschneiders owed approximately
$60 million in unpaid notes, but none of the notes were in default as of December
2004. The Schneiders continued to sell the notes in violation of the court's order
until February 2005 when their assets were frozen. Tlet ¢ben elevated
Fornshell to Receiver to oversee the liquidation of the Schneiders's assets and the
distribution of those assets to investors.

In his capacity as Receiver, Fornshell filed periodic updates with the cowt. |
filing made on[sic] Decemler 2008 as part of th®@DC v. Schneidelitigation,

the Receiver reported that the liquidation of the Schneiders's assetsl \adiokal

of $20,955,622.98. In the same report, the Receiver also told the court it was
unknown how much of the Schneiders's assets would be distributed to unsecured
investors until the claims of secured investors were resolved. Of that
approximately $21 million, secured creditors eventually made claims in the
amount of $20 million dollars.

Plaintiffs were also involved in twother suits concerning their investments with
the Schneiders, both filed by the Receiver. The first suitdatisy Young v. First
Merit Bank filed on May 10, 2006 and the second Wasnshell v. FirstMerit
Corp, filed on May 24, 2006Fornshell was brought by the coudppointed
Receiver on behalf of unsecured creditors. Plaintiffs recovered 17% of their
investment, in the amount $11,900, on December 12, 2011 from a settlement in
Forshnell v. FirstMerit On December 27, 2011, the Receiverfreatiunsecured
investors that he did not expect additional funds to become available for
reimbursement.
Cramer, 885 F. Supp. 2d at 866% (citations omitted).
FRGinitially submitted amended tax returns on behalfliehts claiming Schneider theft
losses using 2004 as the year of discovery. (Gov. Ex. 95, Doe221@ov. Ex. 97, Doc. 214
27;Gov. Ex. 98, Doc. 2128.) The IRS then begda disallow these claimed théf@tsses on the
ground that, as of the end of 2004, the potential for ergoremaied unknown. $eeGov. Ex.
109 at 4, Doc. 2189, PAGEID # 5141.) Significantly, Elsass and FRG continued to market

2004 as the year of discovery to potential cliexrfter the IRSbegan determininthat the use of
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2004 was improper. SeeGov. Ex. 113, Doc. 212 (March 5, 2008 letter from Elsass to
potential customers identifying 2004 as Schneider year of discovery); GotOfxat 4, Doc.
21439, PAGEID # 5141 (November 2007 notice of disallowance of Schneideddkgftlaim

of Richard Pavlich on thgrounds that taxpayer could not establish that no reasonable prospect
for recovery existed in 2004).)

For several customers for whothe IRS ruled that 2004 was tha proper year of
discovery Elsass and FRG would-fige claims usinglater yearsof discovery. (SeeGov. EX.

106, Doc. 21436; Gov. Ex. 118, Doc. 215; Gov. Ex. 119, Doc. 218; Gov. Ex. 123, Doc.
215412; Gov. Ex. 130, Doc. 2159.) For example FRG used 2007 as the year of discovery in
several instances, including for some taxpayers famvit had initially used 2004(SeeGov.

Ex. 121, Doc. 2180; Gov. Ex. 124, Doc. 2153; Gov. Ex. 126, Doc. 2155.) As with the
2004 amended returns, the IRS also denied -Zineider claims on the ground that recovery
was still possible as of thatrie. (Gov. Ex. 61 at 20, Doc. 2B5, PAGEID # 4864 (March 10,
2010 notice of disallowance regarding Schneider Hlosi claimed by Stephen and Karen
Wazgar on the groungdsiter alia,there existed a potential future recovery in 2007).)

As the IRSindicated in its disallowance notices, it was improper for Elsass and FRG to
use years between 2004 and 2007 as the year of discovery for Schneidesshdéductions
because reasonable prospects for recovery existed during that time period orpeetprosre
simply unknowable. As of the end of 200d¢overy efforts were only in there very initial stages
and as of the end of 2007, the recovery efforts remained ongoing. The Ohio Department of
Commerce had initiated litigation against the Schneidetate 2004, and, as of Deg®er of
that year, theCuyahoga County @urt of Common Pleas had only jusppointed Fornshell as

special master to evaluate the Schneiders’ plan to repay invesgasGdv. Ex. 80 at 2, Doc.
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21411, PAGEID # 5052.)As of that time, the Schneider’s had not yet defaulted on the notes.
Cramer, 885 F. Supp. 2d at 861.

The record contains a declaration from Schneider receiver Matthew Farnsheit,
Fornshell describes instances where Elsass contacted him in failed &ffotitain a list of
investors who lost money to the Schneider scherBeeRornshell Decl. 1%, Gov. Ex. 493,
Doc. 2286, PAGEID # 810809) According to Fornshell, efforts to recover money for the
Schneiders’ creditors began in February 2005 and remain ongdohd] 3 PAGEID # 8108
Further, Fornshelstatesthat, in the early stages of the receivership, his consistent response to
inquiries from investors concerning recovery of lost funds was “that | was umadétarmine
the amounts that wddibe distributed with any degree of certaintyld. {] 9 PAGEID # 8109.)

The record also contains a March 2006 email from Fornshell describing the pgdepect
recovery for the unsecured Schneider investadgeeGov. Ex. 104, Doc. 2134.) In the email,
Fornshell discusses the proposed liquidation of Schneider assets, concludinghtb&1EH20
million likely to be realized through liquidation, all but-$2 million would likely be paid to
secured creditors.(See id. The remaining $34 million would be used to compensate the
unsecured investors and pay feeSed id. Significantly, however, Fornshell also mentions the
prospect of litigation against third parties, stating that proceeds would beneditursss
creditors, but that a successful result could take as long as two yBaesidy( Elsass received
this email in March 2007. Sge id. As noted by Judge Oliver, the liquidation actually yielded
about $21 million, with $20 million claimed by seed creditors. Fornshelllgigation was also
successfu-resulting in a settlement and some recovery to unsecured investors. However, as of
the time Fornshell sent the email, possible recovery on the litigation remainedagpyteatrs in

the future, oraround March 2008 in a worsase scenario. See alsdGov. Ex. 100at 1, Doc.
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214-30 PAGEID # 5120(January 22, 2007 letter from Fornshell to Schneider investors
providing update on recovery efforts, states “While it is difficult to setispemne lines for
determining when distributions can be made, and to whom they can be made to, | antiatpate t
process will begin during the first half of 2007.”).)

As noted previously, the burden is on the taxpayer to prove entitlement to a deduction,
and wherehe prospect of recovery is unknowable in a given year, that year cannot selnee as t
year of discovery for a thefbss deduction.Here,given the unknowable prospects for recovery
at the end of 2004, evidenced by the fact that recovery efforts had only just begun, and the
ongoing recovery efforts of Fornshell through 2007, which would have appeared promsising a
the end of that year for at least partial recovery based on the incomplete iquafahe asets
seized from the Schneideed the thirgparty litigation, Elsass and=RG simply could not
establish that no reasonable prospects for recovery existed either asraf &i€2604 or the end
of 2007. Judge Oliver reached essentially the same conclusion irChatter and Zinn v.
United States885 F. Supp. 2d 866 (N.D. Ohio 20+2yranting summary judgment to the
Government on the grounds that the taxpayers lacked evidence to establish thabmableas
prospects for recovery existed with regard to the Schneider scheme in 2004 oiS2@0Zinn
885 F. Supp. 2d @&74 (“The court agrees with Defendant, and finds that there is insufficient
evidence from which a reasonable jury could find Plaintiffs had no reasonable gprope
recovery at the close of 200More specifically, Plaintiffs have m@rovided evidence to rebut
the inference that the filing dDC v. Schneidelitigation at the close of 2004 presented a
reasonable prospect of recovéryCramer, 885 F. Supp. 2d at 866 (“Plaintiffs have presented
no evidence that as of December 31, 2007, their chances of recovery from [thejattyrd

litigation was nebulous or remote.”).
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Further, there is no material dispute of fact as to whether Elsass anddi&Gwillfully
and/or recklessly or intentionally disregarded rules and regulations in eiolaitis 6694(b) by
claiming Schneider theft losses uskither 2004 or 2007 as the yexdrdiscovery. As with the
ABFS claims, in making the Schneider claims, Elsass and FRG ignored entoratation and
the precedent and law surrounding tHefts deductions, and continued to file claims even in the
face of frequent IRS disallowanceglsass, who was in communication with Fornshell, was
aware that recovery efforts were merely beginning or remained ongoimg dloei 2004 through
2007 timeframe, and asalsoattuned to the specific details Bornshell’s efforts. eeGov. Ex.

89, Doc. 21420.) In a February 23, 2006 email to a potential client, Elsass stated that “I have
been investigating Schneider for over 4 months now. | have and do attend all the court
proceedings and work with the attorneys involved gathering information.” (Gov. Ex. 85, Doc
214-16, PAGEID # 5061.)

In a February 2007 letter to the IRS defending the claim of David and Elaine Kosco,
which used 2004 as the year of discovéilgassstated:

The litigation against the Schneider's started in 2004 and a receiver was

appointed. All the investors including the taxpayers were notified of the case in

2004. After a few months it became obvious that the only parties that would get

pad were the financial institutions that held first mortgages on the properties.

The holders of promissory notes withoatcorresponding mortgage on real

property, like the taxpayers, will receive nothing in the civil case. Tlej®d]

not enough recovered assets to pay all the secured investors with mortgages

including the banks.

| persondly attended the hearings on this case until it was determined that the
unsecured note holders would receive nothing.

(Gov. Ex. 103 at 1, Doc. 2133, PAGEID # 5128emphasis supplied).) This letter typifies
Elsass/FRG's defense of the Schneider claims as it ignores and distortsfeetsaiand ignores

the law governing thefioss deductions. First, it was never (at least not as of February 2007)
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determined bytte receiver or court that unsecured note holders would receive nothing. As noted
above, Fornshelbnly reported to theourt in Decembenf 2008the final tally yielded by the
liquidation of the Schneiders’ assets and that it was unknown how much wadikstrilmited to
the unsecured creditorsCramer, 885 F. Supp. 2d at 861. Second, Elsass’ letter ignores the
potential for recovery in the thixdarty litigation initiated by Fornshell. Thirdpntained within
the letter itself is a reason why the pradpéor recovery were unknowable in 2084he Ohio
Department of Commerce litigation against the Schneiders began on Decetmiifethds year
and Elsass states that his conclusion regarding possible recovery is based drecaha
obvious (at least to Edss) “after a few months,” arecessarilysometime in2005. Finally, the
letter ignores the possibility that unsecured investors had of recoveringsapé#a of their
investments.

1.

The third secalled “scam” identified by the Government involves an entity known as
OneCapMortgage (“OneCap’”) As of the filing of the summary judgment motions in this case,
FRG customers had filed claims for tax refunds arising from OneCap lossedeabtat4.3
million. (Gov. Ex. 173, Doc. 2185.) The Government has filed as exhibits various amended
tax returns claiming OneCap theft losses for which Elsass and FRG sesvek return
preparers.(SeeGov. Ex. 147, Doc. 215-36; Gov. Ex. 148, Doc. 215-37; Gov. Ex. 149, Doc. 215-
38, Gov. Ex. 151, Doc216 Gov. Ex. 153, Doc. 218.) However, as with ABFS and the
Schneider Ponzi scheme, the claimed tlesses filed on behalf of OneCap investors were
improper.

OneCap was a mortgage broker that usdmisiness model known as first trust deed

investing. (Williams Dep. 17, Gov. Ex. 172, Doc. 228 PAGEID # 5746.)First trust deed
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investing involves the use of investors’ money for specific land purchases imgecfa a
monthly interest payment td¢ investors. 1¢.) With the downturn in the housing market,
OneCap’s business failed and it declared bankruptcy in 2@k 129-30, PAGEID ## 5757—
58.) Specifically, because of the market downturn, OneCap properties stoppeg aedin
OneCap wa$orced to foreclose on borrowersSee id. As a resultinstead of receiving interest
paymentsOneCap investorlsecame owners through foreclosure ofdieereciategbropertiesm
which they had invested S¢e id).

Heidi Williams was avice presidentof OneCap for approximately five years and
considered herself to be among the three individuals at the company with the mostbégponsi
(Seed. at 2123, PAGEID # 574951.) Williams is unaware of any fraud or mismanagenatnt
OneCap. Id. at 32, PAGEID # 5760.) According to her, OneCap was in no way a Ponzi scheme
because investors’ money was invested in specific properties and the inviestotsetame
owners of the propertiesld( at33—-34 Doc. 21623, PAGEGID # 576%62.) Further, Williams
testified that OneCap investors were given disclosures regarding the rihes iofvestments.
(Seeid. at 25-27,Doc. 21622, PAGEID ## 575355.) These disclosures and disclaimers were
consistent with what was required by Nevada lé\d. at 28, PAGEID # 5756.)

Prior to filing for bankruptcy OneCap was subjet¢d investigations by the Nevada
Department of Business and Industry, Division of Mortgage Lending and Finamstiitions
Division. (See idat36, Doc. 216-23, PAGEID # 5764.) These investigations began in 2007 and
lasted until 2009and resulted in the surrender of OneCap’s mortgage broker licé®se.id@t
3739, PAGEID ## 576566.) According to Williams, the license was voluntarily surrendered
because there wam need to keep the license as OneCap’s mortgage business had cBased. (

id. at 39, PAGEID # 5766.)No criminal charges related to OneCafadure have ever been
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brought. Further, Williams is unaware of any allegation by any governmental &ythloat
OneCap committed fraudd( at 168, Doc. 21&4, PAGEID # 5794.) Rather, the Nevada state
investigations into OneCap were related to actions taken by OneCap for Qinecap lacked a
proper license and certain transactions that lacked the required collatenal fiorh of real
property. Gee idat167.)

As with ABFS, FRG and Elsass failed to demonstrate that the losses to OneGaprsnve
resulted from criminal intentTo the contrary, it appears that investments into OneCap were but
another casualty of theeepdecline in thenationalhousing market during the Great Recession
of the late 200Qs Despite this, Elsass and FRG, through their agents, aggressively ddfended
claimed OneCap thefoss deductions. The following passage frametter to the IRS signed by
attorney Thomas Soogn behalf of an FRG customer typifies the position taken by FRG on
behalf of its OneCap clients regarding the criminal intent issue:

Nevada law provides in relevant part that “a person commits theft if, without
lawful authority, the person knowingly...obtains real, personal, or intangible
property or services of another person by a material misrepresentation with inte
to deprive that person of the property or services.” Enclosed please find a copy of
the State of Nevada Department of Business and Industry Division of Mortgage
Lending Order to Cease and Desist from October 2007. This document outlines
the fraudulent activities of OneCamd the misrepresentations it made to
investors, including the Taxpayers, about the company. Essentially what OneCap
was doing was engaging in the brokering of loans which were not secured by real
property, a violation of the Securities Laws of the State of Nevada. The
misrepresentation for purposes of how OneCap violated Nevada theft lawncame i
the form of how they created confusion as to the identity of the company and
where investor money was really going. This is outlined in the Cease argd. De
Subsequently the Division amended its Cease and Desist and eventually in May
2010, revoked OneCap’s mortgage broker’s license for failure to comply with the
various agreements made between the Division and OneCap througtsout
process.

(Gov. Ex. 164 pt. Jat 2-3, Doc. 21613, PAGEID ## 550405 See alsdGov. Ex. 160, Doc.

2169; Gov. Ex. 163, Doc. 2162; Gov. Ex. 165, Doc. 21865; Gov. Ex. 167, Doc. 21867; Gov.
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Ex. 168, Doc. 216-18; Gov. Ex. 169, Doc. 216-19; Gov. Ex. 170, Doc. 216-20.)

It is true that OneCap was investigated by the Neudepartment of Business and
Industry, which issued cease and desist orders against it in October 2007. Halereeis
nothing in the record to suggest that the proceedings before the Department, whinhatedlin
the loss of OneCap’s mortgage broker license, were anything other thansacrtivea in nature.
Further, and perhaps even more fatal to FRG’s position regarding the ciim@malissue, there
is no indication that the conduct cited BRG’s agents in defending the OneCap thefs
deductionsactually causethe losseto OneCap’s investors. For instance, FRG made much of
the fact that OneCapad been cited in the Cease and Desist Order issued by the Division of
Mortgage Lending for mking material misrepresentations. However, a revietveoorder itself
reveals that “misrepresentations” for which OneCap was cited in violatiNeada law related
to the confusion created by the fact that OneCap operated using a series afysirarhed
entities with the identity of the entity possessing the mortgage broker liceimge difficult to
ascertain. In this regard, the ordeateghat:

The practical effect of this business structure is that neither the div|si

Mortgage Lending] nor the complaining parties are able to discern whather t

RESPONDENT or some other unlicensed affiliate of RESPONDENT is the part

with whom certain real estate transactions were consummated. Thus, insofar as

members of the public are concerned, RESPONDENd all of its related

entities are viewed as mere components of the confusingly vague and gederali

“ONECAP” identity.

(Gov. Ex. 164 pt. 2 at 18, Doc. 216-14, PAGEID # 5561.)

On the other handyilliams’ testimony that the losses to OneCap investeere caused

by market forces is undisputed. Accordingly, even ifitlegial business practices of OneCap

could be considered criminal in nature, the Defendants are unable to show that the agsal los

to OneCap investors were caused by those practicesther words, the fact that OneCap may
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have used a confusing array of similarly named legal entities had nothohy with why the
taxpayers’ investments turned souRelatedly, the fact that OneCap made loans unsecured by
real estate in contraveah of Nevada legal requiremengsnot related to thiwsses Nor is such
conduct, standing alone, criminal in nature.

FRG and Elsas®fforts to bring theHoss deduction claims before the IRS on behalf of
OneCap investors essentially bdibwn tothe useof non-criminal legal infractionsunrelated to
the actual reasons why investors lost their moimegn attempto portraya seeminglylegitimate
(albeit risky) mortgage business as a massive criminal enterpridee Court, therefore,
concludes thatheir conduct as tax return preparers for the OneCap claamsvillfull and/or
constituted a recklesw intentionaldisregardor the IRS’rules and regulations in violation of §
6694(b).

In responding to the Governments’ motion for summary judgnbefendants argue that
OneCaplosses were caused by criminal inteamtd attempt to support this conclusion by stating
that Heidi Williams may have been under the influence of drugs during her dempoaitd by
pointing toan FBI investgationin additionto citing the cease and desist orders issued by the
Nevada regulatory authorities. However, neither unsupported speculation about whether
Williams was impaired during the depositjamor the FBI investigaticr-a seemingly ongoing
investigation of which theDefendants have failed to produce any evideogecerningits
conclusions—serve to create a material issue of fact regarding the issue of criminal iRtant.
instance, what if th@ngoing FBI investigation were ttompletely exonerate OneCap and its
principals of any criminal wrongdoing?Without evidence concerning the FBI's ultimate
conclusions, the mere fact that an investigation is occurring does notsestaiohinal intent.

For the abovestated reasons, the Court concludes that there isum aésnaterial fact as
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to whether Elsass and FRG violated 8 6694(b) through serving as tax return premarers f
improper theft-loss deductions arising from investor losses in OneCap.
V.

In addition to claiming theflosses improperly as describsdpra the Government also
contends that Elsass and FRG violated § 6694 by using an indastédorm to claim theftoss
deductions. According to the Government, us¢hefform in questior-IRS Form 4794-can
lead to largerefunds than a taxpayer should betésd.

Pursuant to the I.LR.C., thdfiss deductions are characterized as itemized deductions,
meaning essentially that they are tax deductions riradeadjusted gross inconféAGI”) after
AGI is calculatedrom gross income See26 U.S.C. 88 61 (defining “gross income”), 62(a)
(defining AGI as gross ioome less enumerated deductions specified in subsection 62(a)), 63(d)
(defining “itemized deductionsis ‘the deductions allowable under this chapter other thére...
deductions allowable in arriving at adjusted gross inéprheThe I.R.C. contaimat leastone
wrinkle that would allow theftoss deductions to be treated as -itemized deductions, or
deductions taken from gross income on the way to calculating AGI. Pursuant to 8 6B@) of t
I.R.C., AGl is defined as follows:

For purposes of this subtitle, the term “adjusted gross income” means, in the case
of an individual, gross income minus the following deductions:

(1) Trade and business deductions

The deductions allowed by this chapter (other than by part VII of this
subchapter) which are attributable to a trade or business carried on by the
taxpayer, if such trade or business does not consist of the performance of
services by the taxpayer as an employee.

% Further, § 165 itself is located in I.R.C. Subtitle A, Chapter 1, SubchBpEeart VI, which is titled “Itemized
Deductions for Individuals and Corporations.”
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Id. 8 62(a)(1). Section 165 is withPart VI of the same chapter of the I.R.C. as § 62, Sl
associated with the operation of a business could be considered a deduction under the above
quoted provision. However, in the absence of timsted exception, theft losses must be
characterize as itemized deductions.

Theft loss deductions are thus usually correctly claimed by taxpayershimg4684,
titled “Casualties and Theft§ The calculations from Form 4684 in turn feed into lineo20
Form 1040, Schedule A, which is the schedule used to total itemized deductienszed
deductions are then reported on line 40 of Form 1040 (if of course the itemized deduetions ar
greater than the standard deduction) to be subtracteddN@inat line 41.

Form 4797, on the other hand, is titl&kles of Busines®roperty (Also Involuntary
Conversionsaand Recapture Amounts Under Sections 179 and 280F(b)(Eyenignoring the
obviousconceptual difficulty of fitting something related to a “theft” on a fornt traits face
mainly relates to “das” Part | of Form 4797 is titled “Sales or Exchanges of Property Used in a
Trade or Business and Involuntary Conversions F@itmer Than Casualty or The#Most
Property Held More Than 1 Year.” (Emphasis supplig@art Il is titled “Ordinary Gains and
Losses.” Significantlylosses calculated usirfgprm 4797are subtracted from total income at
line 14 of Form 1040 on the way to calculating AGI.

The characterization of a deduction as “above the ljaaleduction from gross income
as opposed to AGI) using Form 4797 can have significant consequences for oveiadbiltgx |
As Government expert Gary Zwick explains:

For federalincometax purposes, it may matter whether a theft loss deduction is

claimedbeforearriving at adjusted gross income (impeoly, using Form 4797)

or after arriving at adjusted gross income (properly, using Form 4684 and
Schedule A). In certain tax years, there have been (and there are now again)

* Tax forms cited herein can be accessettgi://wwwirs.gov/Forms&-Pubs
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phaseeuts of certain itemized deductions when a taxpayer’'s adjusted gross

income was too high, such that a taxpayer could lose the ability to claim up to 80

percent of his itemized deductions if his adjusted gross income was too high. In

this situation, placing the deduction on Form 4797 reduces the taxpayer’s adjusted
gross income and could increase his ability to claim higher amounts for his
itemized deductions.

Further, there are many states, including Ohio, that calculate tax asing

taxpayer’'s federal adjusted gross income without giving credit for itemized

deductions as the federal government does. So claiming a theft loss deduction
properly on Schedule A for an Ohio taxpayer would not reduce that person’s Ohio
state taxes at all and would not generate a refund. Improperly usimgarF&7,
however, generates a lower federdjuated gross income for an Ohio customer.

That way, the customer’s Ohio state tax return can be amended with the lower

adjusted gross income, which generates a state tax refund and thus, a ligher fe

for the Defendants.
(Zwick Decl. 1 19.h—i, Gov. Ex. 488, Doc. 228-1, PAGEID # 8@6phasis in original).)

As alluded toby Zwick, 8§ 68 of the I.R.Qprovides limitations on the amount of itemized
deductions a taxpayer may take with the limitations applying after ayaxp AGI exceeds a
certain threshal. See26 U.S.C. § 68.Further, 8 67 applies to certain itemized deductions and
prohibits those deductions if, in the aggregate, they do not exceed 2% of a taxp8jlerSeg
id. 8 67(a). Accordingly, lowering a taxpayer’'s AGI through an akbedine deduction would
be advantageous to a taxpayer attempting to overcome the 2% thresfidtd.the issue of state
income taxesklsassis awarethat using Form 4797an make a difference when attempting to
get a state tax refund. (Elsass Dep. 824, Gov. Ex. 486, Doc. 227-12, PAGEID # 7945.)

The Government has identified 110 amended tax returns, filed between 2007 and 2010 by
or on behalf of FRG customers claiming thlefss deductinsby usingForm 4797. (Pond Decl.
19, Gov. Ex. 491, Doc. 228 PAGEID # 8093 See alsdGov. Ex. 12, Doc. 21:23; Gov. Ex.
18, Doc. 21219; Gov. Ex. 46, Doc. 2130. CompareGov. Ex. 121, Doc. 2130 (amended

2007 federal return of David and Elaine Kosco with theft loss shown as a reduction iwi&GI)

Gov. Ex. 120, Doc. 219 (amended 2007 Ohio return of the Koscos with refuncergesd
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through reduced federal AGI).) Elsass himself signed 109 of those forms. (Pdnfl @eGov.
Ex. 491, Doc. 228-4, PAGEID # 8093.)

The record also reflec{and is undisputedha theamended returns were improperly yet
consciouslfiled using Form 4797 at the direction of FRG and Elsass to improve the customers’
tax positions. According to Kinsel, when the custorselosses could not be extended forward or
backward Elsasanstructed employees and contractors of FRG to use Form 4797 for the purpose
of entitling the customer to additional deductions or state refunds through low@tedKinsel
Decl.§ 12, Gov. Ex. 492, Doc. 228 PAGEID ## 810001.) Elsass himself admittiethat Form
4797 was used by FRG to obtain state income tax refunds in this ma8eeEls@ass Dep. 809,
Gov. Ex. 486, Doc. 227-11, PAGEID # 7934.)

There is no indication that any of FRG’s Form 4797 clients could fit under the excepti
that would pogntially allow a taxpayer to claim a theft loss above the line. For instance, many
of the 4797 tax returns relate to ABFS losgese Gov. Ex. 199, Doc. 2415), and there is
simply nothing to indicate that individual taxpayers who invested in ABFS ¢tmuttbnsidered
to have sustained their losses through a trade or business “carried on” by the inthxioanrs
in question per 8§ 62(a)(1)Rather, he instructions prepared by Elsass/FRG for amended returns
reflect “shopping” between claiming the théfss above versus below the lin@n one set of
suchinstructions sent by Elsass he stated “Process as a 4797 if its [siC]. bé@ew. EX. 45,

Doc. 21319. See alsdGov. Ex. 119, Doc. 218 (August 26, 2008 instructions for Schneider
losses, “Wecan do this as a 4797 since it is confined to one ye&dy. Ex. 190, Doc. 211
(October 3, 2008 instructions sent by Elsass to use Form 4797 to claim theft loss; “Do AS
4797 to obtain State of CA for 2006”); Gov. Ex. 476, Doc.-285April 17, 2008 nstructions

sent by Elsass to use Form 4797 to claim ABFS theft loss).)
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Finally, Government Exhibit 469, a 2005 amended tax repuwapared by FRGor
taxpayers Douglas and Mary Theaker, illustrates how using Form 4797 sewuédto inflate a
federal ta refund. For the Theakers, FRG used Form 4797 to claim a $63,262 ABFS loss,
which lowered th& heakes AGI from $178,172 to $114,910. (Gov. Ex. 469 at 1, 10, Doc. 225
21, PAGEID ## 7191, 7200 The lowering of their AGI allowed the Theakers to increase
itemized deductions andltimately their claimed refund. In this regarcch®dule A of Form
1040 for 2005 indicates that itemized deductions could be limited for taxpayers withlaf AG
over $145,950. Jee idat 7, PAGEID # 7197.) Convenientlysing Form 4797 for the above
thedine deduction lowered the Theaker's AGI below that threshold. Futtieenmedical and
dental expense itemized deduction was limited to those expenses in excess of 7.9% (&ekG
id.) See als®6 U.S.C. § 213(a) (prior to 2010 amendment raising threshold to 10%, medical
expenses deductible to the extent in excess of 7.5% of ABY).lowering their AGI, the
Theakers were able to claim as an itemized dedud&ii)493 of their $21,111 in medical
expenses as opposed to the $7,748 they would have been able to deduct had their AGI remaing
at $178,172. KeeGov. Ex. 469 at 7, Doc. 2251, PAGEID # 7197.) Accordingly, by claiming
the theft loss deduction using Form 4797, the Theakers adesto increase their itemized
deductions by $5,712which served to increastheir claimed refund of $17,950.1d( at 1,
PAGEID # 7191.) The Theaker’s purported theft loss was later redone below th&Ske&oy.

Ex. 58, Doc. 213-32.)

Having determined that the record is undisputhatElsass and FRG improperly used
Form4797 in an attempt to generate higher federal and state tax réamaddhus higher fees for
FRG), the Court also concludes that such conduct is penalizable under § 6694(b). The

conclusion that theft losses claimed by Elsass and FRG’s clients slamaldbéen characterized
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as itemized deductions using Schedule A to Form 1040 and Form 4684 as opposed-tieeabove
line deductions using Form 47% reached byhe simple examination of 8§ 61 and 62 of the
I.R.C. explained aboveln addition to basic statutory interpretation, the conclusion is supported
by the obvious conceptual difficulties of using Fo#TO7 in the context of theftessentially
trying to fit a square peg ia roundhole—coupled with the fact that a specific form exists
covering theft losse3.Given that the proper characterizatimfitemized deductions so easily
ascertainable, especially to a person ssdElsass who possessa law degree and holds himself
out as an expert in theftss deductions, the improper use of Form 4797 by Elsass and FRG at
the very least constitutes a reckless disregard for the I.R.C. and the taanailesgulations in
violation of 8§ 6694(b).

V.

Next, the Government asserts that Elsass and FRG violated § 6694 by ssniag
return preparers for taxpayers claiming personal 4beft deductions arising from the
investment losses of deceased relatives. Such a deduction would bpengwen if a valid
theftloss had occurredsa relative of the deceased taxpayer would have no personal basis in the
investment. See Reed v. Comm®1 T.C.M. (CCH) 1078 (1986) Tb qualify for a theft loss
deduction, a taxpayer must establish his basis in inherited property before suchnldss c
determined); 26 U.S.C. § 102 (income from inheritance ordinarily not taxable).

Deborah Heidell was such customer onwhose behalf FRG served as tax return
preparer. Heidell's deceased motiretaw had lost morghan $94,000 in a Ponzi scheme.

(Heidell Decl. 1 4, Gov. Ex. 489, Doc. 228 PAGEID # 8077.) Upon the death of her husband,

® The conceptual difficulty of using Form 4797 is again illustrated byTtreakers amended return, where, at line 2,
box (c) of Form 4797, FRG indicated that the ABFS investnvetmich lost value because of the company’s failure,
had been “sold” on 11/30/2005. (Gov. Ex. 469 atlldc. 22521, PAGEID # 7200.)
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she inherited her mothan-law’s estate. I(l. 1 5.) Othef‘fraud recovery” companies contacted
her and offered their help working with the IRS, but informed her that they could not help afte
she told them that the investment in the Ponzi scheme had been herimddiags and not her
own. (d. Y 7, PAGEID # 8078.) However, she was personally contacted by Elsass ini2008
telephoneand, even after she explained to him that the investment was not her own, Elsass told
her that FRG could get a tax refund from the IR&l. {f 810.) She subsequently signed a
contract with FRG, paid an tfpont fee, and then, in mi#008, woked with FRG to filean
amended tax return(ld. 1 13-14.) By August of 2009, her fee had been refunded but she did
not learnwhy (becauséer theftloss claim had been denjedhntil she became a witness in this
lawsuit. Gee id.N1 16-21, PAGEID ##8078-79. See alsoGov. Ex. 388, Doc. 2221
(disallowance noticdrom the IRS regarding Heidell's amended returi@yy. Ex. 384, Doc.
223-17.)

The instructions for preparing Heidell's amended return were given bpsHRG.
(Gov. Ex. 367, Doc. 228 Elsass also personally signed the amended tax return on behalf of
FRG. (Gov. Ex. 430, Doc. 2221 (Heidell's amended 2008x return; Elsass Dep. & Gov.
Ex. 486, Doc. 22-14, PAGEID# 7993.) The record also contains evidence of at least one other
instance where FRG attempted to claim a theds deduction for a taxpayer arising from the
investment loss of a deceased relativgeeGov. Ex. 66, Doc. 21:39 (May 24, 2010 ker from
FRG attorney Laurie Wt to Perry Furgala explaining why he could rmtdim his mothes
ABFS investment loss).) While Elsass seemed to suggest that the Hetdall should be
considered a mistake made in the early days of his bus{sesg&lsass Dep. 9281, Gov. Ex.
486, Doc. 22714, PAGEID ## 799496), the Court note that the letter to Pergola is dated

almost two years after FRG’s D08 initial interactions with Heidell.
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As with the improper use of Form 4797, the Court has little difficulty concluding Elsass
and FRG actedt the very leaswith a reckless disrega for the tax laws by preparing claims for
refunds arising from the investment losses of taxpayers’ deceased selativehis regard,
Heidell's declaration that she was personally contacted by Elsass who proteesigd her
amended tax return eveneafbeing told by Heidell that it was her deceased meathkEw who
had lost money in the Ponzi scheme is undispufeglling in this instance is the fact that other
tax companies contacted Heidell prior to FRf@t would not help her upon being informexd
the nature of her situation. While the Defendants deny that they intentioredlyHeé improper
claim on behalf of Heidell, they cite nothing in the record to support this contention.
Accordingly, the Government has established that there risaterial issue of fact as whether
Elsass and FRGaved as tax return preparesa behalf of relatives of deceased investors, and
that in doing so, Elsass and FRG violated 8 6694(b) as a matter of law.

ii.

Section 7407 of the I.LR.C. also makes enjbieary conduct that is subject to penalty
under I.R.C.8 6695. See26 U.S.C. § 7407(b)(1)(A). The Governmeassertghat Elsass and
FRGhave repeatedly run afoul of subsection 6695(f), which provides that

Any person who is a tax return preparer who endorses or otherwise negotiates

(directly or through an agent) any check made in respect of the taxes imposed by

this title which is issued to a taxpayer (other than the tax return pregeakmpay

a penalty of $500 with respect to each such check.pféeeding sentence shall

not apply with respect to the deposit by a bank (within the meaning of section

581) of the full amount of the check in the taxpayer's account in such bank for the

benefit of the taxpayer.

Id. 8 6695(f). In other words, pursuant to this subsection, a tax return preparer such as the

Defendants cannot receive customefund checks and deposit the funds therefnoim the tax

return preparés own bankaccount
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Despite this prohibition, the Government contends and the record gs¢gblhat Elsass
and FRG employees negotiated some 510 refund checks between 2006 and 2011, with Elsas
personallynegotiating 203 checks. (Pond Decl. {1 21, Gov. Ex. 491, Doe4 2PAGEID #

8094. See alsdGov. Ex. 283A, Doc. 21:21.) FRG would cash or deposit the refund checks,
deduct any deferred fee to which it was entitled, and then pay the customer th@ngma
balance. $eeElsass Dep. 457, Gov. Ex. 486, Doc. ZPAGEID # 7696; Gov. Ex. 244, Doc.
218-22))

The record cotains various examples of thhecks. (See, e.g.Gov. Ex. 270, Doc. 219
7; Gov. Ex. 275, Doc. 2192; Gov. Ex. 277, Doc. 2194. See alsdsov. Ex. 283, Doc. 21920
(summarychart of checks negotiated by FRB employeed)he checks arendisputablyfor tax
refunds andaredirected to particular taxpayers, but are either stamped or endorsed to ke paid t
FRGinstead in violation o 6695(f). Finally, as noted by the Governmentappears thatRG
and Elsass continued the practice of negotiating checks even after this Veassfiled

The Defendants assert that having customers sign a combination of twoop@tterney
forms—Treasury Form 231 and IRS Form 284fndered FRG/Elsass’ conduct in endorsing
the checks permissible. They also note that the Government has since amendiedntisetse
prohibit their combination in manner that would seem to allow endorsement of checks by tax
return preparers. However, the Defendants fail to explain how the languagediministrative
form could serve to override the will of Congreseagresed by§ 6695(f). As such, the Court
concludes that there is no issue of material fact as to whether the FRG asy] Wlsle acting as
tax return preparers, have negotiated refund checks issued by the IRS to FRGrsustbhe

Court further concludes that, as a matter of law, that conduct violates § 6695(f).Bf.Ge
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iii.

Pursuant to § 7407, the Court may enjoin a tax return preparer if thef@dathat the
preparer “misrepresented his eligibility to practice before the InternaériRev Servie, or
otherwise misrepresented his experience or education as a tax return grepéréfr.S.C. 8
7407(b)(1)(B). The Government contends and the Court agrees that Elsass frequently
misrepresented his eligibility to practice before the lBSepeatedlyigning Form 2848 (the
IRS power of attorney formndicating that he waan attorneyin good standing irOhio and
through other conduct.

Part Il of Form 2848 is titled “Declaration of Representative” and requines t
representative to sign the form andiaade the capacity (e.g., attorney, CPA, Enrolled Agent,
etc.) in which the representative serves the taxpdyspecifically requires the representative to
declare, “[u]lnder penalties of perjury,” his or her respective capacity. Ameytanust
represent that he or she is “a member in good standing of the bar of the highest court of the
jurisdiction shown bely.” Next to the box designated for the representative’s signature is a box
for the representative &iatethe appropriate jurisdiction.

Elsass admitted that his Ohio law license has been suspended indefinitel08i8aad
that he has never attempted to have it reinstated. (Elsasd®epi—55;Gov. Ex. 486,Doc.

226, PAGEID ##7488, 7497-98.) However, he record is undisputed thah at least 273
separate occasionsetween 2005 and 2010 he signed Form 2idlcating that he was a
licensedattorney despitereceiving warnings concerning his status as an attorney from the
Treasury Department(Pond Decl. 11 15, Gov. Ex. 491, Do@2284, PAGEID # 8093; Gov.

Ex. 243, Doc. 2189; Gov. Ex. 243A, Doc. 2180. Seealso Gov. Ex. 202, Doc. 2119

(exemplar of Form 2848 signed by Elsass); Gov. Ex. 203, Doe2@XFebruary 7, 2007 letter
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from Treasury to Elsass concerning the statusioidw license) Gov. Ex. 221, Doc. 2138
(September 17, 2008 letter from Treasury to Elsass regarding his statusttasnay)a Aside
from issues of perjury, such conduct undoubtedly constitutes a misrepresentaktsasy
eligibility to practicebefore the IRS.

In the Court’s viewother conduct of Elsass also constitutes violations of § 7407(b)(1(B).
For instance, he would communicate with potential clients using languagedhlat strongly
imply that he was a licenseattorney. Government Exhibit 94, a June 2006 marketing letter
from Elsassto Schneider investors provides an example of such conduct. His name in the
signature block of the letter is followed by the initials “JD.” (Gov. Ex. 94, Doc-2414
PAGEID # 5075 Further, in the le#r, while discussing the limited prospects for investment
recoveries through litigation, he stated the following: “I hate to krmmaglkprofession, but the
only winners in these cases are the lawyersld., PAGEID # 5074 (emphasis suppligd)
According toKinsel, she frequently observed Elsass telling customers that he was aimgyacti
attorney. (Kinsel Decl. § 22, Gov. Ex. 4929c. 2285, PAGEID # 8104-05.) Additionally,
Elsass went as far as to insist that employees refrain from using his |lesgah@me “Tobias’to
make it more difficultfor potential customers to discovénat his law license had been
suspended.ld.)

V.

The Government also contends th&G and Elsasgonduct violated (and continues to
violate) 8§7407(b))(D), which allows the Court to enjoin tax return prepafensgaged in any
other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which substantially interferes with the rprope
administration of the Internal Revenue laws26 U.S.C. 8 7407(b)(1)(D). According to the

Governmat, Defendants have run afoul of this provision by 1) misleading customers into
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believing that the IRS had approved faulty rationale with regard toldssftdeductions while
ignoring IRS disallowancesind2) charging exorbitant contingent fees. As maitial matter, the
Court is unconvincedby the Government’s position regarding the contingent fees as it is not
clear how such fees standing alone could be considered fraudulent or deceptivestafae]
there is nothing in the record to indicate tRRG or Elsass have ever misledstomers about

the nature of the fees they charge.

The Court, however, agrees with the Government that Elsass and FRGohawéted
deceptive acts that substantially interfere with the administration of the tax lamsslegding
customers in various ways. As an example, the Court looks to a March 5, 2008 promotional
letter to prospective Schneider customers whdftsass stated

All requests for a tax refund regarding losses for the Schneider investme
must be postmaddon or before April 15, 2008.

The case law regarding 165(C)(2) [sic] tax refunds for a victim of

investment fraud is clear, you must take your investment loss in the ydasshe

is discovered. Schneider’'s year of discovery is clearly 2004. pwsiVious

refunds we obtained for Investors have used the year 2004 as the year the loss was

discovered. Consequently, your right to a refund will expire midnight April 15,

2008.
(Gov. Ex. 113, Doc. 213.) This statement is deceptive #sfails to mention the legal
requirements concerning prospects for recovery and ignores the fact the IRB&dy laegun
to disallow Schneider theft losses using 2004 as the year of disco\BagGov. Ex. 109 at 4,
Doc. 21439, PAGEID # 5141 (November 2007 netiof disallowance of Schneider thédss
claim of Richard Pavlich on the grounds that taxpayer could not establish that ncabéason
prospect for recovery existed in 2004).) Further, as the letter was no doubt intendsdadee

Schneider investors fide theft-loss claims—claims that were untimely at that point in time and

thus improper-the Court also concludes that the statements substantially interitérehe
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administration of the tax laws abey attempt togoad taxpayers into claiming improper
deductions.
2.

In addition to 8§ 7407, the Government also urges the Court to enjoin the operations of the
Defendantsunder8 7408 of the I.R.C.Pursuant to 8§ 7408, if the Court determines that the
Defendants have engaged in certain specified coraautthat injunctive relief is appropriate to
prevent recurrence of such condut¢he Court “may enjoirjthe Defendantsirom engaging in
such conduct or in any other activity subject to penalty under [the .RZ&R]U.S.C. § 7408(b).
While § 7407 appliesnly to tax return preparers, 8 7408 applies broadbntpoperson, a term
that includes corporations aerdtities See id8 7701(a)(1).

The Government contends ttliae Defendants have engaged in several typesrafuct
made enjoinable by § 7408cluding conduct subject to penalty under I.R.C. 88 6700 and 6701
(made enjoinable by § 7408(c)(1)) and conduct in violation of the regulations issued ptogsuant
31 U.S.C. § 330 (made enjoinable by § 7408(c)(2)).

a

I.R.C. 8 6700 pertains to the promotion of abusive tax shelters and subjects to penalty any
person who makes false or fraudulent statements regatidengax benefits of such a tax
avoidance schemeSee26 U.S.C. 8 6700(a). “Under 8 6700 any ‘plan or arrangenmaving
some connection ttaxes can serve as a ‘tax shelter’ and will be an ‘abusaeShelter if the
defendant makes the requisite false or fraudulent statements concerning thenefits of
participation” United States v. Raymon2R8 F.3d 804, 811 (7th Cir. 2000). peron is subject
to penalty under 8 6700 when the following elementpezsent

(1) he organized or participated in the sale of an entity, plan, or arrangement, (2)
he made false or fraudulent statements regarding specified tax matterangclud
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deductions in connection with that organization or sale, (3) he knew or had

reason to know that his statements were false or fraudulent, and (4) theestate

pertained to a material matter.
United States v. Gleaspd32 F.3d 678, 682 (6th Cir. 2005Here, theDefendants do not
dispute the materiality element. (Defs.” Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. a.8Doc. 230, PAGEID
# 8268.) Further, the Court also finds that FRG’s business model can be considersdi¢hef
a plan” or the “sale of an arrangenieas it is closely connected with aiding customers in
obtaining tax refunds arisingdm theftloss deductions, anBRG’s fees are contingent on
successfully obtainingefunds.

Turning to whether FRG and Elsass have made false or fraudulent statem@&nd, 8§
covers both statements related to “the availability of tax befiefsd “those ‘concerning
factualmatters that are relevant to the availability of tax benefitelriited States v. Stoye#50
F.3d 1099, 118 (8th Cir. 2011)(quotingUnited State v. Campbe]l897 F.2d 1317, 1320 (5th
Cir. 1990)). The Government contends that Elsass and FRG made various falsenttateme
customers and prospective customers concerning eligibility for valid-ltssft deductions.
While the Defendantarguethat the Government has failed to produce evidence of such false
statements, a review of the record indicates otherwiShe Court lists the following, nen
exhaustive examples of false statements made by Elsass or FRG, keepingtimatrgatements
can be fise based on what they fail to conveSeeStover 650 F.3d at 1109:

e In an October 1, 2006 email to an attorney representing Schneider investors,teisdss s
that “To takea 165(C)(2)sic] loss it must be supported with expert testimony.(Gov.

Ex. 82 at 2, Doc. 2143, PAGEID # 5056.) To the contrary, the legal elemehta

proper theft-loss include no such requiremeseePart I11.B.1.b.i,supra

e In a February 2006 email exchange with a potential Schneider customer, fRlsalys
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told the taxpayer that it wascceptable to proceed with the IRS eteough it was not
yet clear what recovery the Schneider investors might realize thtbegefforts of the
receiver. The taxpayer specdlly raised concerns about getting a tax refund without
“knowing how much we will get back from the receiver,” and Elsass replied,
As to your questions number 1) about going ahead, the IRS does not
require this to be over to proceed. We are required to make a reasonable
investigation into proceedings and possible recovery. | have done this
already.... | cannot tell you lots of details of why but | have been told to
use $0 as the expected recovery. It should be pretty obvious to everyone
that NO ONE excdpmaybe the banks are going to get 100% of their
money back. If | get you $10,000 and eventually every thing [sic] turns
out better than expected and you get $10k to 20k from Receiver, you still
are out mosof your money.
(Gov. Ex. 85 at 1, 2, Doc. 2146, PAGEID ## 506362.) These statements are false
regardingthe availability of the thefltoss deduction irat least two ways. First, they
suggest that only an investigation into recovery is necessary. Second, thaieitiuit
the prospective customer'sitee loss can be deducted even though there remained a
prospect for at least some recovery.
Statementsn the March 5, 2008 promotional letteliscussedsuprain Part 111.B1.b.iv
for the reasons stated there.
As previously noted, Elsass personally informed Deborah Heidell that FRG could get her
a tax refundgven upon being informed that the investment in question had belonged to
Heidell’'s deceased mother-law. (Heidell Decl. Y910, Gov. Ex. 489, Doc. 2238,
PAGEID # 8078.)
In a promotional letter to investors who had lost money in a company called Pay By

Touch, FRG denigrated the ability of ordinary CPAs to prepare-lteftclaims. The

letter gives several false reasons why “your GRAnot andshould not process a 165
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refund,” including that “[aReview must be made of over 95 years of legal opiniamd

IRS rulings that proves the six elements are present to perform a 165(c)(2);” “[a

165(c)(2) Attorney Letter is required for approval of the refund, which CPA’s do not

have the training to prepare an expert legal opinion;” and thafTHefft Loss Opinion

Letter is required” (Gov. Ex. 351 atl, Doc. 2225, PAGEID # 6481(emphasis in

original).) The statemerthat CPAs‘cannot” prepare a thefioss deduction is an outright

lie. Further, there are no formal requiremeotsreviewing every case evdecided on

theftlosses, nor for an “Attorney Letter,” or a “Theft Loss Opinion.”

Finally, the Court also concludes that the record is undisputed that Elsass/FRG knew or
had reason to know that the statements identified above (and other statégmnentsare false.
Factors relevant tdhis inquiry include “’(1) the extent of the defendant's reliance upon
knowledgeable professionals; (2) the defendant's level of sophistication andorguarad (3)
the defendant's familiarity with tax mattéts Gleasm, 432 F.3d at 683 (quotirignited States v.
Estate Preservation Sery02 F.3d 1093, 1103 (9th Cir. 2000)A review of these factors
supports the Court’s conclusion.

First, the record indicates that Elsass and FRG did not rely on outside advigesirngre
theftloss refund claimand went as far as to suggest that CPAs lacked the ability to.do so
Rather, Elsaspersonallyprovided the direction as to how customers’ amended tax returns
should be preparedSeeKinsel Decl. § 9, Gov. Ex. 492, Doc2&5, PAGEID # 8099.)As to
the second and third factors, Elsass can personally be considered a somhistdisigual,
having obtained an undergraduate and professional degree. Additiohallppssesses
significant experience with thelibss deductions and has held himself out to the public as an

expert in thatirea of tax law He is aware of the legal requirements for a proper 8 165Itssft
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deduction.

Further, other FRG employees (and the entity as a whole) can be considetady
sophistiated and experienced. One promotional letter stated“BRG has likened the whole
165 refund process to brain surgery. You have chosen to have this ‘surgery’ perfgrores b
of the country’s leading authorities on 165 claims.” (Gov. Ex. 386 Rbc.222-10, PAGEID #
6500.) Relatedly, in a January 2009 promotional letter, Elsass boasted of quaisicaiti
FRG’s staff,a staff purported to include “a litany of tax professional’s [sic],” attorneyd, a
former IRS agents. (Gov. Ex. 371 at 1,cdD8234, PAGEID # 6549.) Elsass also provided
training to the staff.(SeeUnited States’ Statement of Contested and Uncontested F&ils, |
Doc. 229-1, PAGEID # 8195.)

Accordingly, for the abovstated reasons, the Court concludes that the Government
entitled to summary judgment on the issue of whether Elsass and FRG have violated § 6700 by
promoting an abusive tax shelter.

b.

Section 6701 establishes penalties for aiding and abetting the understatement of ta
liability. Pursuant to that section:

Any person—

(1) who aids or assists in, procures, or advises with respect to, the
preparation or presentation of any portion of a return, affigd
claim, or other document,

(2) who knows (or has reason to believe) that such portion will be
used in conection with any material matter arising undde

internal revenue laws, and

(3) who knows that such portion (if so used) would result in an
understatement of the liability for tax of another person,

shallpay a penalty with respect to each such document in the amount determined
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under subsection (b).
26 U.S.C. 8§ 6701(a).

For reasons largely statgareviously in this opinion, the Court concludes that the
Government is entitled to summary judgment as ¢dishue of whether the Defendé@ntilated
8 6701 by assisting customers fiing amended tax returns containingiproper thefiioss
deductions. It is undisputed that their business involves aiding, assisting, or adwipagetsa
respecting the prepation of the portionof tax returns dealing witsuchdeductions. Further,
claiming substantialrefunds arising from theft losses by amending prior year returns touches
upon material matters regarding the customers’ tax posiéierthe customers’ tax bdity is
directly affected by claiming the deductioas issue in this caseAs the Defendantdiled
amended returns on behalf of their customers and as their business relies on antdetnge
deducted from realized tax refunds, they clearly were awWetetheir advice and assistance
would be used in connection with the material matters. Finally, given Edsaldss staff's
knowledge of the basic requirements of § 165 tlosft deductions, and the fact that they have
held themselves out to the public as experts on such deductions, the Court concludes that the
knew that the improper theft loss deductions they prepared would understate thiiltgxdia
their customers.

C.

Section 7408 also makes enjoinable conduct “in violation of any requirement under

regulations issued under section 330 of title 31, United States Code.” 26 U.S.C. § 2408(c)(

Section 330gives the Secretary of the Treasury authority to regulate the practice of

® The Court concludes that STS also aided and abetted the understatement dfitpbliaterving as the tax return
preparer for amended returns claiming ABFS and Onéi@Hplosses.feeGov. Ex. 75, Doc. 2146 (ABFS); Gov.
Ex. 151, Doc. 216 (OneCap); Gov. Ex. 153, Doc.-2{®neCap).)
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representatives before the Treasury Department (imguthe IRS), which th&ecretaryhas

done through regulations codified at 31 C.R.F., Part 10. The regulations are also publeéshed i
document known as Circular 230. Here, the Government contends that Elsass violated Circula
230 by practicing before tHR&S with a suspended law license.

Pursuant tahe regulationd, a “practitioner” before the IRS may be sanctioned if he or
she is Shown to be incompetent or disreputabl&ee3l C.F.R. § 10.50(a) (2010)The term
practitioner is defined to include exgifically listed types of individuals including attorneys, who
may generally “practice before the Internal Revenue Service” if certain administrative
requirements are satisfiedSee id.88 10.Za)5), 10.3(a). The term “[p]ractice before the
Internal Reenue Service”:

comprehends all matters connectedh a presentation to the InternBevenue

Service or any ofits officers or empoyees relating to a taxpayerisghts,

privileges, or liabilitiesunder aws or regulations administerdy the Internal

Revenue Service. Sughesentatios include, but are not limited, preparing and

filing documents, corresponding and communicating with the Internal Revenue

Service, rendering written advice witespect to any entity, transaction, plamn

arrangemen, or other plan or arrangement having a potential foatedarce or

evasion, and representiagclient at conferences, hearings amektings.

Id. 8 10.4a)4). Finally, the regulations list certain forms of conduct the¢ considered
“incompeent or disreputable” anarethus subject to sanction. Such conduct includes, but is not
limited to, “[d]isbarment or suspension fropractice as an attorneyld. 8 10.51a)(10).

In the instant case, there is no material issue of fact that Elsassnwaiomey
practitioner before the IRS on the grounds that actions he took on behalf of FRG customers

amount to “practice before the Internal Revenue Service.” In this regardietbed is

undisputed that Elsass personally signed amended tax returnshaif bf customerswas

’ As certain sections of 31 C.F.R. pt. 10 have been amended since the Govéitachtis action, the Court will
refer to the reguladins as they existed in 2010.
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granted powers of attorney from customers through signing Form 2848, and communittated wi
the IRSon behalf of customers during appealSeeGov. Ex. 40 at 2, Doc. 21314, PAGEID
## 468485 (February 16, 2009 letter from Elsass and Kinsel to David Zitogua Parts
[11.B.1.a (discussing tax returns signed personally by Elsass) Ill.Bi. Xdisicussing Form 2848
issues).) Further, the record is undisputed that during FRG'’s entire existesass, &lv license
has been suspended. Finally, the Court notes that Revenue Proce@8ren8kes clear that a
suspended attorney may not serve asuaenrolled tax return preparer, a status somstime
claimed by Elsass on Form 284&eeRev. Proc. 8438 § 9.01(b), 19885 I.R.B. See also
Gov. Ex. 228 at 2, Doc. 218 PAGEID # 6111Form 2848 signed by Elsass as an unenrolled
preparer) Accordingly, Elsass has violated Circular 230’s requiremdntsengaging in
incompetent or disreputable behavior, and his conduct in doing so is subject to injunction under §
7408.
C

Having determined that the Defendants have committed multiple violations of various
provisions of the I.R.C. subject to injunction under 88 7407 and 7408, the Court now considers
the appropriate relief. The Government argues that the record establishesnagbaitegoing
and egregious conduct and seeks, inter alia, an order preventing the Defendantsrkiog ago
tax return preparers.The Court agrees with the Government that broad relief against the
Defendants is required to prevent them from interfering with the proper adatinistof the
Nation’s income tax systeand accordingly issues permanent injunctive relief concurrently with
this opinion and order Below, he Court will firstbriefly summarize its authority in awarding
this relief. Nextthe Court will discuss its findings regarding the appropnede of the relief

ordered
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1

Pursuant to 8§ 7407, the Court may enjoin specified conduct if the Court finds that a tax
return preparer has engaged in that conduct #rat injunctive relief$ appropriate to prevent
the recurrence of such condtice6 U.S.C. § 7407(b). Further:

[i] f the court finds that a tax return preparer has continually or repeatedlyedngag

in [the specified conducidnd that an injunction prohibiting such conduct would

not be sufficient to prevent such person's interference with the proper

administration of this title, the court may enjoin such person from acting a&s a ta

return preparer.

Id. Under § 7408, if the Court determines that a person has engaged in thet apedified
thereinand that injunctive relief is appropriate to prevent recurrence of such conduct, “the cour
may enjoin such person from engaging in such conduct or in any other activagtdolppenalty
under this titlg’ 1d. § 7408(b). In determiningthe need for an injunction to prevent future
recurrence of violations, a court should consider several factors, including, butitexd ko:

(1) the gravity of the harm caused by the offense; (2) the extent of the deéfenda

participation; (3) the defendant's degree of scienter; (4) the isolated orergcurr

nature of the infraction; (5) the defendant's recognition (ofracagnition) of his

own culpability; and (6) the likelihood that defendant's occupation would place

him in a position where future violations could be anticipated.

United States v. GleasoA32 F.3d678, 683 (6th Cir. 2005)quoting United States v. Estate
Preservation Servs202 F.3d 1093, 1105 (9th Cir. 2000)).

In addition to itspowersunder 88 7407 and408 the Courfpossessebroadauthority to
ensure effective operation of the tax laws pursuant to 8 7402 of the I.R.C., which pro\pdes i
that:

The district courts of the United States at the instance of the United States shall

have such jurisdiction to make and issue in civil actions, writs and orders of

injunction, and ohe exeat republicaorders appointing receivers, and such other
orders and processes, and to render such judgments and decrees as may be

necessary or appropriate for the enforcetr@ the internal revenue laws. The
remedies hereby provided are in addition to and not exclusive of any and all other
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remedies of the United States in such courts or otherwise to enforce such laws.

26 U.S.C. § 7402(a). The language of § 7402(a) “mstfslea congressional intention to
provide the district courts with a full arsenal of powers to compel complianhethvétinternal
revenue laws.”Brody v. United State43 F.2d 378, 384 (1st Cir. 1957). Further, 8 7402(a)
“has been used to enjoin interference with tax enforcement even when sucteimterties not
violate any particular tax statuteUnited States v. Ernst & Whinneg35 F.2d 1296, 1300 (11th
Cir. 1984).

Finally, the Court notes that because each of the I.LR.C. sections discussed above
expressly authorize the issuance of injunctiétige traditional requirements for equitable relief
need not be satisfied. Gleason 432 F.3d at 682 See also United States Stover 650 F.3d
1099, 1106 (8th Cir. 2011) (“When an injunction is explicitly authorized by statute, proper
discretion usually requires its issuance if the prerequisites for the yemm@de been
demonstrated and the injunction would fulfill the legislative purpose.” (quotation atobreit
omitted)).

2.

As prerequisites to relief under 88 7407 and 7408, the Court has previously concluded
that the Defendants hawepeatedlyengaged in the penalizable conduct specified in those
sections. This conductncludes: 1) willfully and/or recklessly understating the tax liability of
hundreds of FRG customers in violation of § 6694; 2) negotiating hundreds of customer refund
checks in violation § 6695(f); 3) over 250 individual violations by Elsass 6107 (b)(X(B); 4)
deceptive practices in violation7g07(b)(1)(D) 5) promoting an abusive tax shelter in violation
of 8 6700,6) aiding and abetting the understatement of tax liability in violation of 8 67017)and

Elsass’ numerouspersonal violations of théreasury Department’s regulations governing
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representation of clients before the IRS.

The Court also concludes that injunctive relief is necessary to prevent tiheenee of
the conduct identified above. Considering the appropriate factors, the @suriotes the
substantl harm caused by the Defenddiidonduct. The record indicatése Defendants have
filed millions of dollars worth of theftoss deductions with the IRS, a vast majority of which the
IRS estimates to have been impropéBeePook Decl. 1 11,12, Gov. Ex. 494, Doc. 228,
PAGEID # 811314) In addition to the financial harm to the Government, the Defendants have
also caused harm to their customerss Elsass noted, a large portiare elderlyand all have
recently lost substantial sums of money to bad investments or through actual fraudveiiowe
despite the Defendantsontention that they provide a valuable service to the public, Elsass and
FRG are doing these individuals no favors by leading them to believe that they hdanuédr
timely theftloss deductions to claim and in sometimes taking thousands of dollars in advance
fees fromthem only for the customérslaims to be denied by the IRfadfor the customerso
potentiallybe subjected to audits and scrutiny from tR&.

Regarding the Defendants’ participation and degreesaiéntey it is evident that
violations of the I.R.C. described in this opinion are the direct result of intentidraisataken
by Elsass and FRGn the course of operating their business. Further, the record also
demonstrates that the conduct described herein is in no way isolated, bugad mesturrent in
nature, involving hundreds of individual customers, their tax returns, and millions of dollars
Relatedly, because Elsass and FRG'sss centers on thdftss deductionst is highly likely
that if they were aflwed to continue operating, their customary business activities would again
lead them to run afoul of the tax laws. In the Court’s view, FRG’s use of contifegsnonly

amplifies this risk, as it creates an incentive to aggressively pursuddbeftlaims regardless of
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the claims’ underlying merits.

The next factors to consider are the Defendants’ recognition of their own cujpabdi
the sincerity of their assurarec@gainst future violations. While the Defendants, and Elsass
personally, have recognized that “mistakes were made in the past,” and claire terhadiated
past practices, the record, and Elsass’ past conduct suggest to the Court thatusaokesass
must be taken with great skepticism. To be blunt, Elsass seems perfectly williiegatod
deceive, even tthe extent of possibly committing perjyipn order to advance his own interests.
In this regard, hevas suspended from the practice of law in p&tause of “repeated acts of
dishonesty, deceit, and failure to abide by [the Supreme Court of Ohio]’'s or@asithbus Bar
Assh v. Elsass713 N.E.2d 421, 425 (Ohio 1999). Further, aside from the deceptive conduct
identified in this opinion-repeated} signing Form 2848 falsely indicating that his law license
was in good standing and making false and deceptive statements to potenticlist®Gers—
other materials in the record indicate a tendency on Elsass’ part to deceavenstance,
Government ERibit 221 is a September 17, 20@8ter from Theresa J. Oleshytsky to Elsass
regarding Elsass’ status as an attorney. In the letter, Oleshytsky stat@$ritour conversation
on September 11, 2008, you advised that your Counsel is working on geitingattorney
license with the State of Ohio reinstated. You made this same claim preasusgil.” (Gov.
Ex. 221 at 1, Doc. 2138, PAGEID # 6099. However, during his deposition, Elsass
specifically testified that he has never made any effort to have his law licensiated. (See
Elsass Dep. 55; Gov. Ex. 486, Doc. 226, PAGEID # 7498 (“I've never looked into [getting law
license reinstated].”).)

The sncerity of the Defendants’ remediation efforts is also called into question by the

fact that, n many instances, they continued prohibited conduct even after being warned by the
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IRS or after this lawsuit was filed. This conduct includes Elsass’ sigoingorm 2848,
improperly negotiating customer refund chgcknd continuing to maintain positionsgarding
theftloss claims even after those positions were called into question or rejected HyS.
Accordingly, a balancing of the factors identified @leasonweighs heavily in favor of
injunctive relief to prevent the recurrence of the Defendants’ violations.

Additionally, the Court looks to stextended authority under &07 and concludes that
an injunction merely prohibitinglsass and FR@om engaging in the specified conduct will be
insufficient to prevent tha from interfering with the proper administration of the I.R.Caken
individually, each of the Defendants transgressions identified in this omaidd mtentially be
viewedas the Defendanfaurport them to behonest mistakes made during the ascent of a steep
learning curve. However, taken togetla@d considering their repeated najulere can be no
doubt that the collective transgressisapresent concerted and consciattempts to gamthe
Nation’s income tax system not necessarily for the benefit of FRG’s certphut for the profit
of Elsass himself.

Absent a broad injunctiom review of the record lets to the conclusion th&isass and
FRG will likely find new ways to manipulate the system to their advantddes conclusion is
supported by the fact that, when confronsetth their conduct and warned, Elsass and FRG have
in many instances carried on as if indifferent to the repercussions of doing soorthgsion is
also supported by the fact thhey havebeen willing to lie and stretch the boundstlod law’s
requirements and of logic in pursuit ohsupportableleductions, as with the improper use of
Form 4797. The conclusion is further supported by the sheer magnitude and variety of the
Defendamnd’ transgressions. Therefore, the Court determines that narrow injunctiieigelie

insufficient to stop their interference with the tax code and will permanemyneElsass and
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FRG from serving as tax return prepares as that term is defined by .LRIG1&)(36)(A)

Finally, the broad injunctive reliegésued concurrently herewith is supported mucs
substantial authority under § 7402(a). In this regard, even if the Defendants’ bistineture
somehow left them outside the legal definition of tax return preparers, braefdvelild still be
appropriate, as 8§ 7402(a) is undoubtedly designed to prevent individuals from undermining the
Nation’s tax laws through exploiting loopholes in the I.R.C.’s overall regulatognsehSee
Ernst & Whinney735 F.2d at 1300.

V.

For the abovestated reasons, the Parties’ crasstions for summary judgment (Docs.
212 & 230) areGRANTED in PART and DENIED in PART, and the D&ndants’ Motion to
Strike Certain Government Summary Judgment Exhibits (Doc. 288)38l I SSED. The Court
concurrently issues permanent injunctive relief against the Defendantsea@idetk is directed
to close this matter.

IT ISSO ORDERED.
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